
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  

You are requested to attend a virtual meeting of  

the Planning Committee 

on Thursday, 25 February 2021, at 10.00 a.m. 
Please note that this meeting will be conducted remotely in accordance with Section 78 of 
the Coronavirus Act 2020. Access details will be provided to Committee Members prior to 
the meeting. Members of the public will be able to access a live broadcast of the meeting 
here. For those using an Apple Device to access the meeting, please note that Safari is not 
compatible with Microsoft Teams, so you will not be able to watch the meeting using this 
web browser. If you wish to watch a virtual meeting on any Apple device (iPad, iPhone or 
Mac) you will need to download the Microsoft Teams App from the App Store, then click the 
link on the relevant SLDC webpage or Agenda and follow the instructions on screen. The 
Agenda is divided into two parts, with Part I items being considered in the presence of the 
press and public. Part II Items will be considered in the absence of the press and public for 
the reasons indicated on the Agenda and relevant reports. It should be noted that 
discussions held in Part I are recorded and that the recordings are uploaded to the 
Council’s Website. 

Committee Membership 
Councillors 

Rupert Audland 

Helen Chaffey 

Brian Cooper 

Michael Cornah 

Judy Filmore 

Gill Gardner 

John Holmes 

Vicky Hughes (Vice-Chairman) 

Janette Jenkinson 

Dave Khan 

Malcolm Lamb 

Susanne Long 

Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 

David Webster 

Substitute Members 
Philip Dixon (Substitute) 

Kevin Lancaster (Substitute) 

Mark Wilson (Substitute) 

Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
Tuesday, 16 February 2021 
Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Committee Services 

 

Telephone: 01539 733333 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGVlODA2ODMtYTdhYy00OWZjLTkzNzItMDQ4NDY1ZDJiMjM0%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%228f18e400-f52a-4870-b1e1-4fa83ffcda3d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%226fc47941-2366-4492-84c3-952ffdc897a8%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES  5 - 32 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 17 December 2020. 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

4  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

5  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no 
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the 
meeting.  Information on how to make the application can be obtained by 
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333. 
(1) Planning Applications 
 
 Planning applications for which requests to speak have been made. 
 
(2) Agenda Items 
 
 Agenda items for which requests to speak have been made. 

 

6  PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/1032 - HOLME HOUSE FARM, 
SKELSMERGH, KENDAL  

33 - 78 

 To consider an application for the demolition of all of the existing structures on 
the site and their replacement with five detached dwellings, together with one or 
more “shared-use buildings.”  

 

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


7  PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0364 - CARK MANOR, CARK-IN-
CARTMEL, GRANGE-OVER-SANDS  

79 - 106 

 To consider an application for change of use from residential dwelling (Use 
Class C3) to a mixed use of residential dwelling (Use Class C3) and holiday let 
(Sui Generis) and the formation of hard standing for car parking (part 
retrospective). 
 

 

PART II   

 Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph 
number) 
 

There are no items in this part of the agenda. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



85 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a Virtual Meeting of the Planning Committee held on 
Thursday, 17 December 2020, at 10.00 a.m. 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 
  
 

Rupert Audland 
Helen Chaffey 
Brian Cooper 

Michael Cornah 
 

Philip Dixon 
Judy Filmore 
Gill Gardner 
John Holmes 

 

Malcolm Lamb 
Susanne Long 
David Webster 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Vicky Hughes (Vice-Chairman), 
Janette Jenkinson and Dave Khan. 
 

Officers 
 

Chris Gordon Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist 

Nick Howard Team Leader Development Management 

Ronan Kelly Enforcement Officer 

Mark Lynch Interim Development Management Team Leader 

Andrew Martin Principal Planning Officer 

Una Bell Case Management Team Leader 

Also present at the meeting were Shamus Giles, Cumbria County Council, Local Lead 
Flood Authority and Phil Crowther, Lambert Smith Hampton. 
 

P/67 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT  
 
Following confirmation that the live stream of the meeting had commenced, the Chairman 
welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting of South Lakeland District Council’s Planning 
Committee, in doing so, thanking all officers involved. 
 
The Chairman referred to the new Government legislation allowing councils to conduct 
remote meetings and explained in detail to all taking part, and for the benefit of members 
of the public, the procedures for the meeting.  He then invited Members of the Planning 
Committee to introduce themselves, to advise whether they were taking part by video or 
audio and to confirm that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members 
participating in the meeting.  All Members present, including the Chairman himself, having 
indicated that this was the case, he referred to officers present at the meeting who would 
introduce themselves when asked to address the meeting. 
 

P/68 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist made a statement on behalf of 
Members of the Planning Committee. He advised that there had been a large number of 
representations received and lobbying in respect of agenda item nos 5 and 6. The Legal, 
Governance and Democracy Specialist reassured members of the public and the 
applicants that the members of the Planning Committee had come to the meeting with an 

Page 5

Item No.2



86 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

open mind and were governed by strong code of conduct and were not predetermined or 
biased. 
 
RESOLVED – That no further declarations of interest were raised. 
 

P/69 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the agenda. 
 

P/70 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that applications to speak under the Council’s Public 
Participation scheme have been received in respect of the following items:- 
 
Minute No. P/71 (Planning Application No. SL/2018/0898); 
 
Minute No. P/72 (Planning Application No. SL/2018/0898); 
 
Minute No. P/73 (Planning Application No. SL/2019/0343); and  
 
Minute No. P/74 (Planning Application No. SL/2019/0758). 
 
The Chairman advised that the participants would be dialled into the meeting to make 
their address at the appropriate time. 
 

P/71 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2018/0897 - PHASE 1 - LAND SOUTH OF 
ALLITHWAITE ROAD, KENTS BANK, GRANGE OVER SANDS  
 
Erection of 87 dwellings and associated infrastructure (Phase 1) (Lancet Homes) 
 
Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2018/0897 which sought 
permission in relation to Phase 1 of a residential development which comprised of 87 
dwellings. He displayed plans and photographs which outlined the proposal and 
summarised the application, full details of which were included within his report. The 
Planning Officer drew Members’ attention to the principal issues which were: the principle 
of the development; the impact upon the character of the settlement and landscape; the 
impact upon the residential amenity of existing and future residents; ecology; surface 
water drainage; and highway safety.  
 
The Planning Officer informed Members that the site formed part of an allocated site 
within the Council’s Land Allocations Development Plan Document (LADPD) and the 
proposal would contribute to the five year housing supply. In addition the site had 
previously been identified as representing a sustainable location for housing, given its 
proximity to a range of key services, and stated that the proposal was acceptable in land 
use and sustainable development terms as the scheme had significant economic, 
environmental and social benefits. He drew Members’ attention to paragraph 11 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which outlined the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  
 

Page 6



87 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

The Planning Officer outlined the applicant’s proposal for nine affordable units (10.3%) 
which would comprise of five for social rent and four for shared ownership. He highlighted 
that policy CS6.3 required, on all schemes of three or more dwellings in local service 
centres, not less than 35% of the total number of dwellings proposed to be affordable. 
However, the policy also stated that exceptionally, a lower requirement for affordable 
housing would be acceptable where there was clear evidence that it would make the 
development unviable. He explained that the applicant had submitted a viability 
assessment which demonstrated that the 35% level was not achievable. Furthermore the 
applicant had amended the layout of the dwellings and reduced the number of proposed 
dwellings from 92 to 87 in order to be Policy DM11 compliant. 
 
The Planning Officer went on to address a number of areas of concern which had been 
highlighted in the neighbour responses received and advised Members that the proposal 
included the retention of a green gap, which would provide a degree of separation 
between Grange and Allithwaite. The site had been assessed by the Council’s Landscape 
Officer and Natural England and it had been concluded that the green gap was sufficient 
and would provide significant bio-diversity gain. United Utilities and the Local Lead Flood 
Authority had raised no objection to the proposals and had provided final comments and 
observations in respect of Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the scheme, although it was noted that 
there was lack of detail regarding the proposals for Phase 3. The Planning Officer advised 
Members that Shamus Giles, representing Cumbria County Council, Local Lead Flood 
Authority, was present in the meeting to respond to any questions Members may have 
and he confirmed that details of the Phase 3 development were currently unknown. The 
Planning Officer informed Members that the proposal would see 24 dwellings per hectare 
and the dwellings were mainly two storey and had a good separation distance of 30 
metres from neighbouring properties. There were good links to the train station at Kents 
Bank with the southern end of the site within easy walking distance.  
 
The Planning Officer concluded his presentation by highlighting concerns raised by 
Councillor Robin Ashcroft, who was unable to attend the meeting, in particular that of foul 
water drainage and the adequacy of the green gap. In addition Grange Town Council had, 
following a meeting on Monday, 14 December 2020, reaffirmed their objections, 
particularly regarding the lack of affordable housing and the proposed travel plan. 
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participants, speaking in opposition to the application, be dialled into the meeting 

to make their representations.  

Valerie Kennedy (speaking on her own behalf and on behalf of 47 residents); 
Sonia Whittaker; Frank McCall (on behalf of Grange over Sands Civic Society); and 
Robin Le Mare addressed the Planning Committee in opposition to the application.  
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, speaking in support of the application, be dialled into the meeting. 

Allen Gibb, Chief Executive of Holker Estates addressed the Planning Committee in 
support of the application.  
 
The Planning Officer responded to concerns raised during public participation.  
 
The Planning Officer, the Interim Development Management Team Leader and 
Shamus Giles responded to questions raised by Members. 
 
Members thanked the Planning Officer for a well written report and gave consideration to 
the application. Members agreed that the site was on allocated land and was in 

Page 7



88 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

accordance with the Development Plan, it was a high quality development of moderate 
density and had raised no objections from statutory consultees. However, concerns were 
raised by a number of Members regarding the reduction in the affordable housing 
provision. 
 
A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – That authority be delegated to the Director of Customer and Commercial 

Services to grant planning permission subject to  

(1) Completion of a S106 agreement with regard to:  

a) delivery of affordable housing,  
b) the management of the open space,  
c) the improvement of a footpath/bridleway in the form of a contribution of 

£65,000 for improving the routes surface condition to provide a crushed stone 
surface route to improve the amenity value and provide a sustainable transport 
link [walking and riding] to the promenade area for the new development. 

d) and to fund the provision of a Traffic Regulation Order to the value of £6,500; 
and  

(2) The following conditions: 
 
Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 
expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 
 
Reason To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 
  
Condition (2)   The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:   
 
Architecture: 
17070_00_P1 Site Location Plan 
17070_01_P1 Proposed Site Layout  
17070_02_P1 Site Sections 
17070_03_P1 Boundary Treatments Layout 
17070_04_P1 Illustrative Street Scenes  
17070_05_P1 Character Areas Plan 
17070_06 P1 Existing Site Plan 
17070_D01_P1 Boundary Treatments Details 
HT_P1_DM11 DM11 Compliance Statement  
HT_P1_Amended Housing Type Package 
 
Landscape: 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-01 Rev F  
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-02 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-03 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-04 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-05 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-06 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-07 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-08 Rev E 

Page 8



89 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

 
Engineering: 
K32662/A1/04_E External Works Layout_1 of 3 
K32662/A1/05_E External Works Layout_2 of 3 
K32662/A1/06_E External Works Layout_3 of 3 
K32662/A1/07_A External Works Details_1 of 2 
K32662/A1/08_A External Works Details_2 of 2 
K32662/A1/25A Surface Water Drainage Longitudinal 1 of 4 
K32662/A1/26 Surface Water Drainage Longitudinal 2 of 4 
K32662/A1/27 Surface Water Drainage Longitudinal 3 of 4 
K32662/A1/28 Surface Water Drainage Longitudinal 4 of 4 
K32662/A1/100_D Proposed Levels and Retaining Walls_1 of 3  
K32662/A1/101_D Proposed Levels and Retaining Walls_2 of 3  
K32662/A1/102_E Proposed Levels and Retaining Walls_3 of 3  
K32662/A1/104 Highway Longitudinal Sections_1 of 3 
K32662/A1/105 Highway Longitudinal Sections_2 of 3 
K32662/A1/106 Highway Longitudinal Sections_3 of 3 
K32662/A1/110 S278 Works layout 
K32662/A1/119A Section Infiltration Basin 
K32662/A1/120_E Proposed Drainage Layout Phase 1  
K32662/A1/122_B Proposed Soakaway Construction Details  
K32662/A1/124 Typical Soakaway Construction Details  
K32662/A1/125 Catchment Plan 
 
Reason:          For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  
Condition (3) The landscaping scheme shall be implemented fully in accordance with the 
following plans:  
 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-01 Rev F  
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-02 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-03 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-04 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-05 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-06 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-07 Rev E 
Green Infrastructure & Landscape Concept Plan for Phase 1 ATH-08 Rev E 
 
a) Prior to the commencement of development a phasing and delivery plan setting 
out the relative phases of development, together with a timetable for the implementation of 
the approved landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The phasing and delivery plan and timetable for the landscaping 
scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
b)  All trees, shrubs and hedge plants supplied shall comply with the requirements of 
British Standard 3936, Specification -for Nursery Stock. All pre-planting site preparation, 
planting and post-planting maintenance works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
requirements of British Standard 4428(1989) Code of Practice for General Landscape 
Operations (excluding hard surfaces). 
 
c)  All new tree plantings shall be positioned in accordance with the requirements of 
Table A.1 of BS5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction 
(Recommendations) 
 

Page 9



90 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

d)  All trees to be planted in this development are to be planted in accordance with the 
recommendations contained within BS8545 Trees: from nursery to independence in the 
landscape – Recommendations.  
 
e)  Any trees, shrubs or hedges planted in accordance with this condition which is 
removed, die, become severely damaged or become seriously diseased within five years 
of planting shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees, shrubs or hedging 
plants of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the successful establishment of the trees in the landscape as 
part of the green infrastructure elements of the development. 
 
Condition (4) No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being 
retained on the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted, wilfully damaged or destroyed, 
cut back in any way or removed without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. Any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without such consent, or which die or 
become severely damaged or seriously diseased with five years from the completion of 
the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees, shrubs or hedge plants of 
similar size and species until the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any 
variation. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the continued well-being of the trees in the interests of the 
amenity and environmental quality of the locality. 
Condition (5) Before the commencement of the superstructures samples panels of the 
materials to be used for the external surfaces of the dwellings hereby approved shall be 
erected at the application site and no external walling shall be erected until written 
approval for the materials has been given by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
details shall be fully implemented.    
 
Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
Condition (6) Prior to the erection of any superstructure plans shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for written approval to the proposed biodiversity net gains in 
respect of Swift bricks / bird and bat boxes. The approved details shall be fully 
implemented and retained thereafter.  
 
Reason:   To ensure the development meets its objective to accord with the DM DPD 
Policy DM4, and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 
174(b).  
 
Condition (7)  No construction work for this development should take place on the site, 
except between the hours 08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday and 09.00 – 13.00 on 
Saturdays. In particular, no work should be carried out on Sundays or officially recognised 
public holidays without the prior agreement in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  To safeguard future residents and protect amenity of nearby residents from 
noise disturbance. 
 
Condition (8) The dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to meet the Building 
Regulations M4(1) M4(2) and M4(3) standards for accessible and adaptable homes.  as 
per the Policy DM11 Compliance Statement submitted to the Local Planning Authority on 
13th February 2020. 
 

Page 10



91 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Condition (9) No development shall commence until a foul and surface water drainage 
scheme based upon sustainable development principles has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The surface water drainage scheme shall be in accordance with the principles within the 
submitted flood risk assessment and drainage strategy report K32662/02/FRA/RH ISSUE 
C dated 8th OCTOBER 2018 and shall be designed to meet the requirements of the non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards. 
The foul and surface water drainage scheme shall include the following: 
 
(i) the proposed foul connection points to the existing public 
sewerage infrastructure; 
(ii) no surface water, highway drainage or land drainage shall discharge to the public 
sewerage system either directly or indirectly; 
(iii) a timetable for its implementation; 
(iv) a strategy for any temporary arrangements for foul and surface water drainage during 
construction of the development; 
(v) ground and finished floor levels in AOD; and 
(vi) identify any parts of the site where foul pumping is necessary. Thereafter the scheme 
shall minimise the number of pumping stations throughout the site. 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the 
approved drainage scheme and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage 
the risk of flooding and pollution. 
 
Condition (10) The foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 
 
Reason:  To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 
 
Condition (11) All private paths, private driveways and other private hardstanding areas 
shall be constructed of permeable surfaces. The details for these permeable surfaces 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing prior to the 
commencement of development. The development shall be constructed in accordance 
with the approved details and the permeable surfaces shall be retained thereafter for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason:  To promote sustainable development and to reduce the risk of flooding and 
pollution. 
 
Condition (12) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or an Order revoking or re-enacting that Order, with 
or without modification), no hard surfaces shall be constructed within the curtilages of the 
dwelling houses at any time, other than those expressly authorised by this permission. 
 
Reason:  To secure proper drainage, promote sustainable development and to 
reduce the risk of flooding and pollution. 
 
Condition (13) Prior to the commencement of development details for the adoptable 
carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways, lighting etc shall be shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval. These details shall be in accordance with the 
standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so approved shall 
be constructed before the development is first occupied and shall be retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  
 

Page 11



92 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Condition (14) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
development shall not commence until the access off Allithwaite Road has been 
constructed in accordance with the approved drawings providing visibility splays of 60 
metres measured 2.4 metres down the centre of the access road and the nearside 
channel line of the major road. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, vehicle or 
object of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants 
shall be planted or be permitted to grown within the visibility splay which obstruct the 
visibility splays. The visibility splays shall be constructed before development of the site 
commences so that construction traffic is safeguarded and the visibility splays shall be 
retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
Condition (15) Prior to the commencement of development a Construction Phase Traffic 
Management Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The CTMP shall include details of: 
• pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for accommodation 
works within the highways boundary conducted with a Highway Authority representative; 
with all post repairs carried out to the satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority at the 
applicants expense; 
• details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;  
• retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading for their specific 
purpose during the development; 
• cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 
• details of proposed wheel washing facilities; 
• the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or deposit of any 
materials on the highway; 
• construction vehicle routing; 
• the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and other public 
rights of way/footway; 

 the sustainable use of soil during construction in accordance with the Defra Construction 

Code of Practice. 

Condition (16) No development shall commence until a construction surface water 
management plan has been submitted and agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority. The approved construction surface water management plan shall be fully 
implemented.    
 
Reason: To safeguard against flooding to surrounding sites and to safeguard 
against pollution of surrounding watercourses and drainage systems. 
 
Condition (17) No development commence within the site until the applicant has secured 
the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written 
scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
This written scheme will include the following components:  
 
An archaeological evaluation 
An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will be dependent upon the 
results of the evaluation.  

Page 12



93 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Where significant archaeological remains are revealed by the programme of 
archaeological work, there shall be carried out within one year of the completion of that 
programme on site, or within such timescale as otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority a post-excavation assessment and analysis, preparation of a site 
archive ready for deposition at a store approved by the Local Planning Authority, 
completion of an archive report and submission of the results for publication in a suitable 
journal.  
 
Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to determine the 
existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and for the preservation, 
examination or recording of such remains. 
 

P/72 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2018/0898 - PHASE 2 - LAND SOUTH OF 
ALLITHWAITE ROAD, KENTS BANK, GRANGE OVER SANDS  
 
Mixed use development comprising extra care apartments and standalone dwellings (Use 
Class C3) (up to 90 units), and commercial space (Use Classes E (Shops, Restaurants 
and Cafes and Non-residential institutions) and Sui Generis (Hot food takeaways) (up to 
495 sq metres gross floor space) – Phase 2 (Lancet Homes) 
 
Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application SL/2018/0898 which sought outline 
consent, with all matters reserved, in relation to Phase 2 of an overall scheme to develop 
land south of Allithwaite Road, Grange. He displayed plans and photographs which 
outlined the proposal. The Planning Officer explained that the application sought 
permission for up to 90 Extra Care Units (use class C3) which were currently indicated as 
partially stand-alone bungalows and partly extra-care apartments. The proposal also 
included a separate retail unit comprising up to 495m² commercial space for use classes 
E and Sui generis. The Planning Officer advised Members that the final layout would be 
determined at the reserved matters stage. He highlighted that the layout plan had a slight 
overlap with the Phase 1 plan, on the western part of the site, which was the location of 
the proposed commercial units. However, the layout plan for Phase 2 was purely 
indicative and the precise layout would be determined in the reserved matters application. 
 
The Planning Officer highlighted the issues regarding the proposed development. He 
informed Members that concerns had been raised about the provision of a care unit on the 
site, when Policy LA3.2 of the Land Allocations DPD had allocated the site for mixed 
housing and B1 and B2 employment development, and that the proposal would also 
introduce a range of uses that were not specified in Policy LA3.2. The Planning Officer 
informed Members that the applicant had provided an account of the marketing activities 
associated with the site and had confirmed that there had been no reasonable offers in 
relation to the employment use. The marketing had been carried out over a three year 
period and had only received one positive line of enquiry from a veterinary practice, which 
did not fall within B1 or B2 us class, as required by the proposed allocation.  
      
The Planning Officer drew Members’ attention to paragraph 3.3.8 of the Council’s 
Development Brief of the site, which stated that it was considered that the development 
could be a suitable location for the provision of Extra Care Housing, which could be 
delivered in association with the site’s affordable housing contribution. However, the 
Planning Policy Team had raised concerns regarding the provision of a care unit on the 
site and paragraph 89 of the Planning Framework stated that when assessing applications 

Page 13



94 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

for retail and leisure development, which were not in accordance with the current plan, an 
impact assessment could be required. However, as the proposal was below the policy 
limit of 500m² an impact assessment was not required. The Planning Officer explained 
that he had concluded that the employment allocation of the site was based on a mature 
policy which did not accurately reflect the current market reality and the proposal was a 
viable market opportunity which would provide an alternative use for a recognised need 
and for employment.  
 
The Planning Officer advised Members that the proposal included 35% affordable housing 
which complied with policy CS6.3 and this had been further outlined in Condition 5 of the 
recommendation. 
 
The Planning Officer concluded his presentation by responding to a number of objections 
which had been raised, which he had detailed in his report. These included concerns 
regarding public transport links; commercial use; flood risk; and landscape impact.  
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participants, speaking in opposition to the application, be dialled into the meeting 

to make their representations.  

Valerie Kennedy (speaking on her own behalf and on behalf of 47 residents); 
Frank McCall (on behalf of Grange over Sands Civic Society); and Robin Le Mare 
addressed the Planning Committee in opposition to the application.  
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, speaking in support of the application, be dialled into the meeting. 

Allen Gibb, Chief Executive of Holker Estates and Tom Whitehead, the applicant’s agent, 
addressed the Planning Committee in support of the application.  
 
The Planning Officer responded to concerns raised during public participation.  
 
The Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members. 
 
Members gave consideration to the application and acknowledged that it was for outline 
consent, with all matters reserved and also the difficulties associated with the take up of 
the site for industrial use. In addition Members agreed that the proposal met the need for 
Extra Care housing and affordable housing. 
 
A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the application, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – That the application be granted subject to the following conditions: 

Condition (1) Approval of the details of the siting, design and external appearance of the 

building(s), the means of access thereto and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called 

“the reserved matters”) shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing 

before any development is commenced. 

Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to above, relating to the siting, 

design and external appearance of any building to be erected, the means of access to the 

site and the landscaping of the site, shall be submitted in writing to the local planning 

authority and shall be carried out as approved. 

Page 14



95 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

Condition (2) a) Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the 

Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 

permission. 

b) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two years 

from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of three years from the date of 

approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended)  

Condition (3)  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: 

4824_SK001_E Existing Site Plan 

4824_SK002_M Indicative Site Plan 

4824_SK010_B Location Plan 

Design and Access Statement Rev B 

10-877-r1 Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Assessment 

K32662-04_A Preliminary Ground Investigation Report 

Flood risk assessment and drainage strategy report K32662/05/FRA/RH ISSUE A 3RD 

OCTOBER 2018 

K32662-06 Operation & Maintenance Plan for Sustainable Drainage Systems 

K32662/A1/21_A Indicative Drainage Layout Phase 2 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition (3) At the submission of an application for the reserved matters for the extra-

care facility, a statement setting out the on-site amenities and services intended to be 

provided by the extra-care operator shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 

Planning Authority. The development shall be fully implemented in accordance with the 

approved details.  In the event that a separate standalone commercial unit to be run by 

another operator is proposed, then the statement should also indicate an expected 

timeframe for the construction and operation of that commercial facility.”   

Reason: In order that, should the extra-care facility be delivered first, prospective 

users of the extra-care facility will understand what facilities will be on offer on the site 

before they commit to live at the development. 

Condition (4) The dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to meet the Building 

Regulations M4(1) M4(2) and M4(3) standards for accessible and adaptable homes as per 

the Design and Access Statement.  

Reason: To ensure the approved dwellings are fully accessible in accordance with 

Policy DM11 of the Councils Development Management Policies.   

Condition (5) No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision of 

affordable housing as part of the development has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The affordable housing should be provided in 

Page 15



96 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the definition of affordable housing 

in Annex 2: Glossary of National Planning Policy Framework or any future guidance that 

replaces it. The scheme shall include: 

i. The numbers, type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable housing provision to 

be made, which shall consist of not less than 35% of residential  units, unless otherwise 

agreed in writing with the LPA. 

ii. The timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its phasing in relation to the 

occupancy of the market housing; 

iii. The arrangements for the transfer of affordable housing to an affordable housing 

provider or the arrangement of the management of the affordable housing if no RSL is 

involved; 

iv. The arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first and 

subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; 

v. The occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the 

affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria should be enforced. 

The affordable housing shall be retained in accordance with the approved scheme. 

Reason: In order to ensure affordable housing is provided as part of this scheme and in 

accordance with Policy CS6.3 of the Councils Core Strategy   

Condition (6) Prior to the erection of any superstructure plans shall be submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority for written approval to the proposed biodiversity net gains in 

respect of Swift bricks / bird and bat boxes. The approved details shall be fully 

implemented and retained thereafter.  

Reason:   To ensure the development meets its objective to accord with the DM DPD 

Policy DM4, and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 

174(b). 

Condition (7) As part of the submission of the first reserved matter a sustainable surface 

water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The surface water drainage scheme shall be in accordance with the 

principles within the submitted flood risk assessment and drainage strategy report 

K32662/05/FRA/RH ISSUE A 3RD OCTOBER 2018 and: 

(i) shall be designed to meet the requirements of the non-statutory technical standards for 

sustainable drainage systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement national 

standards; 

(ii) no surface water, highway drainage or land drainage shall discharge to the public 

sewerage system either directly or indirectly; 

(iii) shall include a timetable for its implementation; and 

(iv) shall include a strategy for any temporary arrangements during construction of the 

development. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the 

approved drainage scheme and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 

manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 

Page 16



97 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Condition (8) As part of the submission of the first reserved matter a foul water drainage 

scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

foul water drainage scheme shall include the following as a minimum: 

(i) Full details of any connections to the foul sewer network and any necessary 

infrastructure; 

(ii) Ground and finished floor levels in AOD; 

(iii) Identify any parts of the site where foul pumping is necessary. Thereafter the scheme 

shall minimise the number of pumping stations throughout the site; 

(iv) The timing arrangements, storage requirements and rate of discharge for any pumped 

foul discharge; and 

(v) A strategy for any temporary arrangements during construction of the development. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the 

approved drainage scheme and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 

manage the risk of flooding and pollution. This condition is imposed in light of policies 

within the NPPF and NPPG. 

Condition (9) All foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 

Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 

Condition (10) All private paths, private driveways and other private hardstanding areas 

shall be constructed of permeable surfaces. The details for these permeable surfaces 

shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing prior to the 

commencement of development. The development shall be constructed in accordance 

with the approved details and the permeable surfaces shall be retained thereafter for the 

lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To promote sustainable development and to reduce the risk of flooding and 

pollution. 

Condition (11) The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycle ways etc. shall be designed, 

constructed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further 

details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local Planning 

Authority for approval before work commences on site. No work shall be commenced until 

a full specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance with the 

standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so approved shall 

be constructed before the development is complete. 

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway 

safety. 

Condition (12) The development shall not commence until the second (eastern) access off 

Allithwaite Road, as per drawing reference 4824_SK002 M, has been constructed 

providing visibility splays of 60 metres measured 2.4 metres down the centre of the 

access road and the nearside channel line of the major road. Notwithstanding the 

provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 

Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted 

development, no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed 

and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted to grown within the 

visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility splays shall be constructed 

Page 17



98 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

before general development of the site commences so that construction traffic is 

safeguarded. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

Condition (13) Full details of the surface water drainage system (incorporating SUDs 

features as far as practicable) and a maintenance schedule shall be submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any 

approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being completed and shall 

be maintained thereafter in accordance with the schedule. 

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 

manage the risk of flooding and pollution. To ensure the surface water system continues 

to function as designed and that flood risk is not increased within the site or elsewhere. 

Condition (14) No construction work for this development should take place on the site, 

except between the hours 08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday and 09.00 – 13.00 on 

Saturdays. In particular, no work should be carried out on Sundays or officially recognised 

public holidays without the prior agreement in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason:  To safeguard future residents and protect amenity of nearby residents from 

noise disturbance. 

Condition (15) Prior to the commencement of development a Construction Phase Traffic 

Management Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority. The CTMP shall include details of: 

• pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for accommodation 

works within the highways boundary conducted with a Highway Authority representative; 

with all post repairs carried out to the satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority at the 

applicants expense; 

• details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;  

• retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading for their specific 

purpose during the development; 

• cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 

• details of proposed wheel washing facilities; 

• the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or deposit of any 

materials on the highway; 

• construction vehicle routing; 

• the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and other public 

rights of way/footway; 

• the sustainable use of soil during construction in accordance with the Defra Construction 

Code of Practice. 

• the control of noise during construction,  

• a scheme which specifies the provisions to be made for the control of noise emanating 

from any plant, machinery, odour control or ventilation equipment 

• a scheme for the installation of equipment to control the emission of odours from the 

premises 

• a scheme to demonstrate how refuse and recycling will be stored and managed within the 

site 

• a scheme showing the proposed lighting plan for external building lights and car park 

lighting for the development 

Page 18



99 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason: To safeguard future residents and protect amenity of nearby residents from 

noise disturbance. 

Condition (16) No development commence within the site until the applicant has secured 

the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written 

scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the 

Local Planning Authority. 

This written scheme will include the following components:  

1)  An archaeological evaluation 

2) An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will be dependent 

upon the results of the evaluation.  

3) Where significant archaeological remains are revealed by the programme of 

archaeological work, there shall be carried out within one year of the completion of that 

programme on site, or within such timescale as otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority a post-excavation assessment and analysis, preparation of a site 

archive ready for deposition at a store approved by the Local Planning Authority, 

completion of an archive report and submission of the results for publication in a suitable 

journal.  

Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to determine the 

existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and for the preservation, 

examination or recording of such remains. 

Note – The Committee voted to adjourn for a break at 12.15 p.m. and reconvened at 

12.25 p.m. when a roll call was taken, all Members confirming that they were 

present, that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members 

participating in the meeting. 

 

P/73 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0343 - ALLOTMENT LAND NORTH OF HARE 
AND HOUNDS PUB, CHURCH ROAD, LEVENS  
 
Erection of three dwellings (Mr Martin Curry (Clerk to Levens Parish Council)) 
 
Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
The Planning Officer presented planning application No. SL/2019/0343 which sought 
approval for: access; appearance; landscaping; layout; and scale, for three dwellings 
which were those matters reserved in the extant outline planning permission for the site, 
granted under planning application SL/2015/0260. He displayed plans and photographs 
which outlined the proposals and explained that the development of the site was one of a 
number of schemes considered as part of the wider Levens Community Project. It had 
been decided to bring the reserved matters application to the Planning Committee, for 
determination, because it raised some challenging issues, particularly in respect of the 
relationship with existing neighbours. 
  
The Planning Officer drew Members’ attention to the topography of the land and the 
relationship of the properties to the existing properties known as Causeway End. He   
highlighted that all three properties would be prominent, when viewed from lower levels, 
and explained that the finished floor levels had been lowered since the application was 

Page 19



100 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

first submitted, in order to limit the impact on adjoining properties. However, consequently, 
the driveway gradients would not be fully compliant with policy DM11 (Accessible and 
Adaptable Homes), although he explained that policy DM11 did recognise that full 
compliance may not always be practically achievable due to physical characteristics of a 
site. 
 
The Planning Officer concluded his presentation by drawing Members’ attention to an 
additional condition included within the Late Representations, which had been circulated 
prior to the meeting, and highlighted that it was inevitable, given the constrained size of 
the site and the dramatic change in levels, that the living conditions of those properties in 
the immediate vicinity would be impacted by the development. 
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, speaking in support of the application, be dialled into the meeting. 

Martin Curry, Clerk to Levens Parish Council addressed the Planning Committee in 
support of the application.  
 
Members thanked the Planning Officer for the well written report, photographs and 
illustrative plans and gave consideration to the application. Members agreed that the site 
was challenging and one Member raised concerns regarding the disposal of allotment 
land for housing. 
 
A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – That the application be approved subject to the following conditions:  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

• Proposed Site Plan, P208 Revision A 
• Floor Plans Elevations, P209 Revision A 
• House 3 and Street Elevations, P210 Revision A 
 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
2. The external walls of the dwellings hereby approved shall be finished in a 
combination of natural stone and render, in the proportions indicated on the approved 
plans and in accordance with a further specification that shall first have been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The required specification shall 
detail: (1) the coursing of the natural stone and the depth and colour of mortar joints; and 
(2) the colour and finish of the proposed render. The roofs of the dwellings hereby 
approved shall be finished in natural slate from a source that shall first have been agreed 
in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
REASON: To ensure compliance with: (1) policy CS8.10 (Design) of the South Lakeland 
Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM1 (General Requirements for all development) and 
DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
3. The internal configuration of the dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to 
meet the Building Regulations M4(2) standards for accessible and adaptable homes. 
 

Page 20



101 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

REASON: To comply with policy DM11 (Accessible and Adaptable Homes) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.  
 
4. No individual dwelling shall be first occupied until it has been provided with one or 
more swift bricks in accordance with a scheme that first have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall include 
manufacturers’ details of each bird and bat box together with a plan identifying their 
proposed locations. Thereafter, the approved swift bricks shall be retained for the lifetime 
of the development, replaced on a like-for-like basis as necessary. 
 
REASON: To meet the requirements of: (1) policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, 
Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document; (2) paragraph 170 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.; and (3) section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006 
 
5. No individual dwelling hereby approved shall first be occupied until the parking and 
associated access to the highway shown on the approved plans have been constructed 
and made available for use. The first 5m of the access drive to each dwelling measured 
from carriageway edge of the adjacent highway shall be surfaced in bituminous or cement 
bound materials, or such other finish as shall first have been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the local planning authority. Thereafter, the approved parking and access 
arrangements shall be maintained for the lifetime of the dwelling concerned.  
 
REASON: To ensure the timely and adequate provision of parking in accordance with 
policy CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core 
Strategy and policy DM9 (Parking Provision, new and loss of car parks) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
6. Neither of the two new vehicular accesses onto Church Road shall be first brought 
into use until they have been provided with visibility splays giving clear visibility of 60 
metres measured 2.4 metres down the centre line of the access drive and the nearside 
channel line of the carriageway edge. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and 
Country planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be 
erected, parked or placed, and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or 
permitted to be planted, within the visibility splays in a manner which obstructs the limits of 
clear visibility defined above. 
 
REASON: To maintain highway safety in accordance with policy CS10.2 (Transport 
impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
7. No individual vehicular access shall be first brought into use until it has been 
provided with measures to prevent surface water discharging onto or off the highway in 
accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. Thereafter, the approved measures shall be maintained for 
the lifetime of the associated dwelling concerned. 
 
REASON: To maintain highway safety in accordance with policy CS10.2 (Transport 
impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
8.  No individual dwelling shall be first occupied until the means of enclosure to its 
curtilage has been completed in accordance with a scheme that shall first have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. 
 

Page 21



102 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

REASON: To ensure compliance with: (1) policy CS8.10 (Design) of the South 
Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM1 (General Requirements for all 
development) and DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

P/74 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0758 - AGE CONCERN UK, LINDALE ROAD, 
GRANGE OVER SANDS  
 
Demolition of existing buildings and erection of convenience store, petrol filling station 
including underground fuel storage tanks, works to the existing culvert and associated 
access, car parking and landscaping (James Hall & Company) 
 
Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2019/0758 which sought 
permission for the demolition of existing buildings and the erection of a convenience store, 
a petrol station and canopy with six pumps, underground fuel tanks and 19 car parking 
spaces. He displayed plans and photographs which outlined the proposals and he drew 
Members’ attention to the partially culverted watercourse which ran along the northern 
and eastern boundary of the site and to the structures which were to be demolished and 
which included the existing Age Concern building. The Planning Officer informed 
Members that the site was within the Development Boundary for the town and was also 
within the Town Centre Boundary as identified in the Land Allocations Development Plan 
Document (LADPD). He went on to outline the planning history which included an 
application for the erection of a large convenience store on the junction.  
 
The Planning Officer further outlined the proposals and displayed the detailed site layout 
for the convenience store; the petrol station and car park; the dedicated vehicular 
entrance and exit; and the delivery area. He displayed further slides which outlined the 
elevation of the proposals and informed Members that there would be a number of solar 
panels installed on the flat roof and the petrol station canopy would be finished with 
natural slate. The Planning Officer stated that the canopy would be prominent and 
incongruous. However, the applicant’s Heritage Assessment had concluded an overall 
neutral impact on the significance of heritage assets, due to the mix of buildings of 
different quality in the area.   
 
The Planning Officer stated that the flood risk was the most significant issue for 
consideration and informed Members that the site was located within Flood Zone 3, which 
was the highest risk for sea or river flooding. He displayed two photographs, which had 
been provided by neighbours, and which showed evidence of a significant flooding event 
in 2015. The Planning Officer went on to state that the proposed development would not 
make the risk of flooding any worse and went on to provide further details of the 
watercourse and the existing subterranean floodwater storage tank under the parking area 
at the northern end of the site, into which surface water from the car park above also 
currently drained. He explained that the proposal included a modification to the existing 
subterranean floodwater storage tank, which would provide it with a capacity of 372cu.m, 
and the addition of an attenuation tank under the retail unit which would provide capacity 
for surface water, which would then drain through a hydrobrake to the adjoining 
watercourse. Furthermore the installation by the applicant, on the recommendation of the 
Local Lead Flood Authority, of a replacement culvert, with a wider diameter, along the 
eastern boundary of the site, would contribute to and improve the wider drainage 
problems in the area.  

Page 22



103 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

 
The Planning Officer went on to display further photographs which demonstrated the 
established character of the area, and in particular the relationship with existing properties 
in Riggs Close to the east. He explained that the applicants had employed Noise 
Consultants to carry out a Noise Impact Assessment and the installation of a 2m high 
acoustic barrier was proposed as part of the application. He informed Members that the 
application had a detailed external lighting scheme which showed very little light spillage. 
In regard to access, the Planning Officer explained that the Highway Authority had 
acknowledged that, due to the compact nature of the forecourt, there could be times when 
there could be traffic congestion but it was considered that this scenario was likely to 
occur relatively infrequently and the Highway Authority did not consider this to be a 
serious traffic concern. 
 
The Planning Officer concluded his presentation by drawing Members’ attention to the 
recommendation which included a planning obligation to secure a £20,000 contribution 
towards the construction of a new footbridge which would connect the application site to 
the adjoining South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) car park on Windermere Road. 
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participants, speaking in support of the application, be dialled into the meeting. 

Andrew Baxter, on behalf of Windermere Road Flood Action Group, addressed the 
Planning Committee and highlighted a number of concerns in relation to the flood risk 
assessment of the proposed application. 
 
Deborah Smith, the Applicant’s Agent, addressed the Planning Committee in support of 
the application.  
 
The Planning Officer and Shamus Giles, representing Cumbria County Council, Local 
Lead Flood Authority, responded to concerns raised during public participation.  
 
The Planning Officer and Shamus Giles responded to questions raised by Members. 
 
Members gave consideration to the application and acknowledged the need for a petrol 
station in the location. The installation of the Electric Vehicle charging points was 
welcomed and it was considered that as petrol needs declined there would be a need for 
the installation of more Electric Vehicle charging points.  
 
A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – That the application be approved subject to: 

a) adoption of the Shadow Habitat Regulations Assessment, ERAP (Consultant 

Ecologists) Ltd., Report Ref. 2020-133, August 2020;  

b) (i) a planning obligation to secure a £20K contribution towards the construction of 

a new footbridge connection to the adjoining SLDC car park and (ii) a planning obligation 

and/or Grampian conditions to secure the necessary rights of access across the 

application site to allow the bridge to be constructed; and a right of access in perpetuity 

across the application site connecting the footbridge to Windermere Road; and 

c) the following conditions:  

Page 23



104 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 

THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 

To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Approved plans 

2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: 

Plan Title       Date Received 

Location Plan, Ex01 Revision A    12 September 2019 
 
Site Plan – Existing, Ex02, Revision A   12 September 2019 
 
Existing Site Layout, TRI-2739-01    12 September 2019 
 
Existing Site Rear Car Park Construction Layout &  
Sections, 219/023/001, Revision P2    06 April 2020 
 
Site Demolition & Temporary Works For Ground  
Improvement Works, 219/023/002, Revision P2  06 April 2020 
 
Proposed New Below Ground Water Storage Volumes, 
219/023/003, Revision P5     06 April 2020 
 
Formation Base Slab & Foundations, 219/023/004,  
Revision P3       06 April 2020 
 
Cast In-Situ Wall Setting Out Layout, 219/023/005,  
Revision P2       06 April 2020 
 
Ground Floor Plan Showing Intermediate Slab Structure  
Above, 219/023/006, Revision P4    06 April 2020 
 
Retail Space Ground Floor Slab Layout, 219/023/007,  
Revision P3       06 April 2020 
 
Sub-Structure Details (Sheet 1), 219/023/008,  
Revision P1       06 April 2020 
 
Sub-Structure Details (Sheet 2), 219/023/009,  
Revision P2 (Contained within Flood Risk Assessment,  
EPG, Report Ref. EPG-9120-FRA-01, V1.8, 24.11.20) 
  
Sub-Structure Details (Sheet 3), 219/023/010,  
Revision P2       06 April 2020 
 
Existing Foul & Surface Water Drainage Layout,  
219/023/101, Revision P4     06 April 2020 
 
Outline Surface Water Drainage Layout, 219/023/102,  
Revision P6       06 April 2020 
 

Page 24



105 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Fuel Tank Installation Layout & Details, 219/023/106,  
Revision P2       06 April 2020 
 
Fuel Forecourt Separator Layout & Details, 219/023/107,  
Revision P2       06 April 2020 
 
Ex. Site Layout Indicating Ground Water Levels  
Based on Historic Information, 219/023/108, Revision P2 06 April 2020 
 
Exceedance Drawing For Storms Above  
The 1 In 100 Year + 40% C/C Event, 219/023/113,  
Revision P3       06 April 2020 
 
Existing Culverted Watercourse Defects, 219/023/114,  
Revision P2       21 July 2020 
 
Proposed Dim Plan, BR-001     06 April 2020 
 
Proposed Elevations, BR-002, Revision B   20 November 2020 
 
Proposed Fitout Plan, BR-003    06 April 2020 
 
Section A-A, BR-004      06 April 2020 
 
Section B-B, BR-005      06 April 2020 
 
Section C-C & D-D, BR-006     06 April 2020 
 
Mezzanine Floor Details, BR-007    06 April 2020 
 
Proposed Roof Plan, BR-008, Revision A   06 April 2020 
 
Proposed Site Plan, BR-100, Revision L   10 November 2020 
 
Tracking Plan, BR-101, Revision G    10 November 2020 
 
Proposed Levels, BE-102, Revision B   12 September 2019 
 
Proposed Canopy Elevations, BR-103, Revision B  06 April 2020 
 
Underground Services Plan, BR-104, Revision B  06 April 2020 
 
Hazard Zone Plan, BR-105, Revision B   06 April 2020 
 
Setting Out Plan, BR-106, Revision B   06 April 2020 
 
External Works Details, BR-107, Revision A   06 April 2020 
 
Proposed Boundary treatment, BR-108   06 April 2020 
 
Site Section, BR-109, Revision B    20 November 2020 
  
External Lighting Lux Plot, P1    01 October 2019 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Page 25



106 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

 
Materials 
 
3.  The finish of external walls and roofs of the buildings/structures hereby 
approved shall be completed in accordance with: (1) the details shown on the Proposed 
Elevations drawing BR-002 Revision B and Proposed Canopy Elevations drawing BR-103 
Revision B; and (2) specifications for the use of natural stone and natural slate that shall 
first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
specification for the natural stone shall include the source of the material and details of 
coursing and the depth and colour of mortar joints. The specification for the natural slate 
shall include the source of the material (it must be a local pale green/grey Westmorland 
roofing slate) and details confirming that the slate will be laid traditionally in diminishing 
courses. 
 
REASON:  To ensure compliance with: (1) policies CS8.6 (Historic Environment) and 
CS8.10 (Design) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM1 (General 
Requirements for all development), DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) and 
DM3 (Historic Environment) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document. 
 
4.  No work on the glazed canopies to the south elevation of the approved 
convenience store shall commence until working drawings, including full details of the 
“cast posts, Grange-over-Sands traditional style” have been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority. Thereafter, the development shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved working drawings.  
 
REASON: To ensure compliance with: (1) policies CS8.6 (Historic Environment) and 
CS8.10 (Design) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM1 (General 
Requirements for all development), DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) and 
DM3 (Historic Environment) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document. 
 
5.  The convenience store hereby approved shall not be first opened for trade 
until the external bin store and plant area shown on Proposed Site Plan, BR-100, Revision 
L have been completed, made available for use and screened in accordance with the 
fencing details shown on drawings BR-002  Revision B (Proposed Elevations) and BR-
107 Revision A (External Works Details).  
 
REASON: To ensure compliance with: (1) policies CS8.6 (Historic Environment) and 
CS8.10 (Design) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM1 (General 
Requirements for all development), DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) and 
DM3 (Historic Environment) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document. 
Parking and access 
 
6.  No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan (CTMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The CTMP shall include details of:  

• proposed crossings of the highway verge; 
• retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading for 

their specific purpose during the development; 
• cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 
• proposed wheel washing facilities; 
• the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or 

deposit of any materials on the highway; 

Page 26



107 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

• construction vehicle routing; 
• the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and 

other public rights of way/footway; 
• any proposed temporary access points (vehicular / pedestrian) if 

applicable. 
Thereafter, construction shall proceed in accordance with the CTMP. 

REASON: In the interests of ensuring highway safety and to safeguard the amenity of 
the existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS10.2 (Transport impact of new 
development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policy DM7 (Addressing 
Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
7.  The convenience store hereby approved shall not be first opened for trade 
until the pedestrian and vehicular entrance and exit points shown on Proposed Site Plan, 
BR-100, Revision L have been constructed and made available for use in accordance with 
a scheme that shall first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. Any structures within the visibility splays shown on Proposed Site Plan, 
BR-100, Revision L, either existing or proposed as part of the development or proposed at 
any time during the lifetime of the development, shall be maintained at a height not 
exceeding 1.05m above the carriageway level of the adjacent highway. 
 
REASON: To maintain highway safety in accordance with policy CS10.2 (Transport 
impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
8.  The convenience store hereby approved shall not be first opened for trade 
until the off-site footway improvements shown on Proposed Site Plan, BR-100, Revision L 
have been constructed and made available for use in accordance with a scheme that shall 
first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. 
 
REASON: To maintain highway safety in accordance with policy CS10.2 (Transport 
impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
9.  The convenience store hereby approved shall not be first opened for trade 
until the car and cycle parking provision shown on Proposed Site Plan, BR-100, Revision 
L, including the provision of two electric charging points, have been constructed and made 
available for use. Thereafter, the car and cycle parking shall be maintained for the lifetime 
of the development. 
 
REASON: To ensure the timely and adequate provision of parking in accordance with 
policy CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core 
Strategy and policy DM9 (Parking Provision, new and loss of car parks) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
10.  The convenience store hereby approved shall not be first opened for trade 
until the internal footways shown to be finished with Marshall Conservation X Block paving 
on Proposed Site Plan, BR-100, Revision L have been completed and made available for 
use.  
 
REASON: To maintain highway safety in accordance with policy CS10.2 (Transport 
impact of new development) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
Surface water 
 
11.  No development shall commence until full details of a surface water 
drainage scheme have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 

Page 27



108 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

authority. The scheme shall be based upon the principles established in: (1) the Flood 
Risk Assessment prepared by EPG (Report Ref. EPG-9120-FRA-01, V1.8, dated 
24.11.20); (2) the Culvert Replacement Design Report prepared by R G Parkins & 
Partners Ltd. (Report Ref.  K37263/01/DDR Revision A, dated 22.09.20); and (3) the Non-
Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015), or any 
subsequent replacement national standards. The scheme must also include a 
maintenance schedule identifying the responsible parties. The convenience store hereby 
approved shall not be first opened for trade until the approved surface water drainage 
scheme has been fully implemented. Thereafter, the surface water drainage scheme shall 
be maintained in accordance with the approved maintenance schedule for the lifetime of 
the development.  
 
REASON: To reduce the risk of flooding and to promote the use of a sustainable 
surface water drainage scheme in accordance with policy CS8.8 (Development and Flood 
Risk) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy and policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management and 
Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the South Lakeland Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
Biodiversity 
 
12. The convenience store hereby approved shall not be first opened for trade until 
bird and bat boxes have been installed in accordance with a scheme that shall first have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall include manufacturers’ details of each bird and bat box together with a plan 
identifying their proposed locations and evidence that those locations have been selected 
by a qualified ecologist. Thereafter, the approved bird and bat boxes shall be retained for 
the lifetime of the development, replaced on a like-for-like basis as necessary.  
 
REASON: To meet the requirements of: (1) policy DM4 (Green and Blue 
Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the of the South Lakeland 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document; (2) paragraph 170 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework.; and (3) section 40 of the Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities Act 2006. 
 
13.  No development shall commence until a soft landscaping scheme has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall include details of: (i) planting plans; (ii) existing vegetation to be retained; (iii) written 
specifications and schedules of proposed plants noting species, planting sizes and 
proposed numbers/densities; (iv) an implementation timetable; and (v) a schedule of 
landscape maintenance proposals for a period of not less than five years from the date of 
completion of the scheme. Thereafter, the approved landscaping scheme shall be 
implemented and maintained in accordance with the agreed details and timetables. 
 
REASON: To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in accordance with 
policy LA1.3 of the South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan Document and 
policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the 
South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
Trees 
 
14.  No development shall commence until the tree protection measures 
specified in the Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) contained within the Arboricultural 
Survey Report prepared by Smeeden Foreman (Report Ref: 2968, dated August 2019) 
have been fully installed. Thereafter, the tree protection measures shall be retained for the 

Page 28



109 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

duration of all construction work and that work shall proceed in accordance with the other 
requirements of the AMS. 
 
REASON: To protect existing trees in accordance with policy DM4 (Green and Blue 
Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
Construction management 
 
15.  Development shall proceed in accordance with the submitted Construction 
and Demolition Method Statement (CEMP) dated 24 September 2019, or such other 
modified version of this document as shall first have been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority.   
 
REASON: In the interests of ensuring highway safety and to safeguard the amenity 
and ecological interest of the existing area in accordance with: (1) policies CS8.4 
(Biodiversity and geodiversity) and CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) of the 
South Lakeland Core Strategy; and (2) policies DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure and 
Open Space) and DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) 
of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
Living conditions 
 
16.  The convenience store shall not be open for trading outside the hours of 
0600 – 2300 on any day. The petrol filling station is not subject to this restriction.  
 
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the area in accordance with 
policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
17.  All external lights other than those marked “B” on the External Lighting Lux 
Plot drawing submitted with this application shall be turned off outside the hours of 0530 – 
2330 on any day. No external lights other than those shown on Lighting Lux Plot drawing 
shall be installed within the application site without the prior written approval of the local 
planning authority.  
 
REASON:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the area in 
accordance with policies DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) and DM7 
(Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South Lakeland 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
18.  Deliveries of goods and fuel shall not shall take place outside the hours of 
0700 to 2100 on any day.  
 
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the area in accordance with 
policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
19.  The convenience store hereby approved shall not be first opened for trade 
until a 2m high, imperforate acoustic barrier (with a minimum surface mass of 10kg/m2) 
has been erected in the position shown in Figure 10 of the Noise Impact Assessment 
(Report Ref. J002622/3967/RDC/6P) undertaken by PDA Acoustics, dated 23 September 
2020 and in accordance with a specification that shall first have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. Thereafter, the acoustic barrier shall 
be maintained for the lifetime of the development.  

Page 29



110 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

 
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the area in accordance with 
policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
20.  All external plant and mechanical equipment (air conditioning units, chillers 
etc.) shall be installed in accordance with a specification that shall first have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The specification 
must demonstrate that the installed plant and mechanical equipment will operate within 
the noise limits assumed within the Noise Impact Assessment (Report Ref. 
J002622/3967/RDC/6P) undertaken by PDA Acoustics, dated 23 September 2020. 
Thereafter, all external plant and mechanical equipment shall be maintained, or replaced 
as necessary, in accordance with the agreed specification.  
 
REASON:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the area in accordance with 
policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
Land contamination 
 
21.  The development hereby approved shall proceed in accordance with the 
recommendations of: (1) the Remediation Statement Report prepared by Geo2, (Report 
ref no. 20/0916.2.2, dated March 2020); (2) the Ground Gas Monitoring Assessment 
prepared by Geo2, (Report ref no. 20/0916.3.2, March 2020); and (3) the Phase 1 and 2 
Environmental Assessment prepared by Geo2, (Report ref no. 19/0916.1.1, August 2019). 
Any unsuspected contamination found as a consequence of the Watching Brief 
recommended by the Remediation Statement Report shall be reported to the local 
planning authority within 5 working days, along with details of any further mitigation as 
necessary.  
 
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the area in accordance with 
policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
22.  Demolition of the buildings on the site shall proceed in accordance with the 
recommendations a demolition asbestos survey that shall first have been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.   
 
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the area in accordance with 
policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
23.  The convenience store hereby approved shall not be first opened for trade 
until a Verification report produced in accordance with Table 4 of the Remediation 
Statement Report prepared by Geo2, (Report ref no. 20/0916.2.2, dated March 2020) has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.   
 
REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the area in accordance with 
policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

Page 30



111 
17.12.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

P/75 A REPORT ON MONTHLY ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY  
 
The Planning Enforcement Officer introduced the Monthly Enforcement Report which 
outlined the enforcement activity and fees generated from 1 July 2020 to 31 September 
2020.  
 
The Enforcement Officer responded to questions raised by Members and undertook to 
provide a response outside of the meeting regarding Reference No 19102 Haverflatts 
Lane, Milnthorpe. Members thanked the Enforcement Officer for his continued hard work 
in difficult circumstances. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of Appendices 1 and 2 to the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 1.57 p.m. 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



 

www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

Planning application no. SL/2019/1032 

Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, 
KENDAL, LA8 9AQ 

  

Page 33

Item No.6

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


 

2 

Contents 

Plannng application no. SL/2019/1032 .................................................................................. 1 

Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, KENDAL, LA8 9AQ.......................................................... 1 

Summary ........................................................................................................................ 4 

Recommendation ............................................................................................................ 5 

1.0 Description and proposal ................................................................................................ 5 

Site description ............................................................................................................... 5 

Proposal .......................................................................................................................... 6 

2.0 Plannng history ............................................................................................................... 6 

3.0 Consultations .................................................................................................................. 6 

Skelsmergh & Scalthwaiterigg Parish Council ................................................................ 7 

Cumbria County Council ................................................................................................. 7 

Environment Agency ....................................................................................................... 8 

Natural England .............................................................................................................. 9 

United Utilities ............................................................................................................... 10 

South Lakeland District Council .................................................................................... 10 

Neighbours / third parties .............................................................................................. 10 

4.0 Relevant planning policies ............................................................................................ 10 

South Lakeland Core Strategy ...................................................................................... 10 

South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan Document .................................. 11 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document 
(DMDPD) ...................................................................................................................... 11 

Other material considerations ....................................................................................... 12 

5.0 Assessment .................................................................................................................. 12 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development ................................................ 12 

The development strategy ............................................................................................ 13 

Previously-developed land ............................................................................................ 15 

Self-build ....................................................................................................................... 16 

Co-housing ................................................................................................................... 17 

Replacement dwellings ................................................................................................. 17 

Shared-use buildings .................................................................................................... 26 

Affordable housing ........................................................................................................ 26 

Flood risk ...................................................................................................................... 27 

Page 34



 

3 

Surface water drainage ................................................................................................. 30 

Foul drainage ................................................................................................................ 31 

Landscape impact ......................................................................................................... 31 

Access and parking ....................................................................................................... 33 

Public rights of way ....................................................................................................... 34 

Biodiversity ................................................................................................................... 34 

6.0 Conclusion .................................................................................................................... 36 

7.0 Recommendation .......................................................................................................... 37 

 

Page 35



 

4 

   

Page 36



 

5 

 
Summary 
SL/2019/1032 

PARISH: Skelsmergh 

Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, KENDAL, LA8 9AQ 
PROPOSAL: Demolition of existing buildings and erection of five dwellings and shared-use 
buildings 

APPLICANT: Holme House Farm Ltd 

GRID REF: E: 352075 N: 497070 

COMMITTEE DATE: 25 February 2021 

CASE OFFICER: Andrew Martin 

This application has been brought to Committee because an approval would not be in 
accordance with the provisions of the development plan.  

The application has been made in outline with all matters reserved. It proposes the 
demolition of all of the existing structures on the site and their replacement with five 
detached dwellings, together with one or more “shared-use buildings.” 

Holme House Farm is in the open countryside for the purposes of applying current 
development plan policy. It is therefore in a location where new residential development is 
generally regarded as unsustainable. The Council’s development plan has no specific policy 
relating to replacement dwellings in the open countryside. Nevertheless, established 
residential use can be a material consideration when assessing whether or not the principle 
of new housing is acceptable in locations where, as at Holme House Farm, it would 
otherwise be in conflict with the District’s development strategy. In this case, for that reason, 
the principle of five replacement dwellings is judged acceptable. 

Recommendation 
Approve subject to: (a) adoption of the applicant’s Shadow Habitats Regulations 
Assessment; and (b) conditions. 

1.0 Description and proposal  

Site description 
1.1. Holme House Farm is an isolated collection of dwellings and former agricultural and 

industrial buildings situated approximately 4km north of Kendal, 

Page 37



 

6 

and 2km east of Burneside. It sits immediately to the east of the River Sprint where 
the Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning shows the majority of the site to 
be within Flood Zone 3a, fringed by areas of Flood Zone 2. The site is accessed via 
a 250m long private track extending from Garth Row Lane to the south, a narrow 
rural lane that connects with the A6 in Skelsmergh, approximately 1km to the north-
east. The southern boundary of the Lake District National Park is located 
approximately 1km to the north.  

1.2. Two public rights of way cross the access to the site. Footpath 570030 runs 
northwards from Garth Row Lane, passing the application site on rising ground to 
the east. Footpath 570018 spurs westwards from footpath 570030 and then follows 
the River Sprint south-westwards.  

1.3. The dwellings on the site comprise four mobile homes, all accepted as having 
lawful residential use, and a farmhouse, accepted as having a lawful use for two 
dwellings.  

Proposal 
1.4. The application has been made in outline with all matters reserved. It proposes the 

demolition of all of the existing structures on the site and their replacement with five 
detached dwellings, together with one or more “shared-use buildings.” The “shared-
use buildings” were added to the description of development in January of this year 
to support the applicant’s intention to create a “co-housing” community on the site. 

2.0 Planning history 
2.1. The following history is relevant: 

• SL/2016/1150 (OPP), Demolition of existing buildings and erection of five 
dwellings, Approved 23 February 2017 

• SL/2009/0681, Enforcement appeal re. enforcement notice issued in respect of 
change of use of land to a mixed use; commercial business, tipping of waste, 
conversion of farmhouse to two dwellings, siting of residential caravans / chalet-
cabins, erection of agricultural buildings and erection and siting of storage units, 
Appeal dismissed and enforcement notice upheld with variations, 29 September 
2010 (“the 2010 appeal”)  

• 5972855, Certificate of lawfulness: existing use in breach of planning condition 
(siting of 4 caravans), Approved 21 May 1998 

3.0 Consultations 
3.1. The application was originally publicised in January 2020. It was re-publicised in 

Page 38



 

7 

January 2021 following amendment of the description of development to include 
shared-use buildings.  

Skelsmergh & Scalthwaiterigg Parish Council 
3.2. Comments as follows: 

19 February 2020 

“The [Parish Council] supports the renewal of the outline consent.”  

Cumbria County Council 

Local highway authority 
3.3. Comments as follows: 

27 February 2020 

“Number of parking spaces and proposed improvements to the existing access are 
acceptable from highways point of view. It however required for the first 10 [metres] 
of the access drive from U5273 to be improved by hard bound surface.  

“In addition, a PROW [public right of way] (public footpath) number 570030 and 
570018 runs through the site (access lane), the applicant must ensure that no 
obstruction to the footpath occurs during, or after the completion of the site works. 
The temporary closure order under Section 14 of the Road Traffic Regulations Act 
1984 may be required for any works undertaken on or near the PROW so [the] 
applicant [will] need to contact [the] County Access Team […] for further advice.”  

[Conditions recommended]  

Lead local flood authority 
3.4. Comments as follows: 

27 February 2020 

“Submitted details show the outline proposal of the drainage and it is acceptable in 
principle, however detailed plans need to be submitted for approval with the 
reserved matter stage of the application. “ 

[Conditions recommended] 

Countryside Access Officer 
3.5. Comments as follows: 

27 January 2021 

Page 39



 

8 

“There should be no interference with pubic footpath No.570030 throughout the 
duration of the construction phase and thereafter. Should it be known that any work 
on the ground, such as connections to underground services would affect the 
footpath then it would be necessary for the applicant to apply to Cumbria County 
Council to temporarily close it by means of a temporary traffic regulation order for 
which a minimum notice period of 14 weeks is required for processing. An 
application for this can be made via this email address: 
Countryside.Access@cumbria.gov.uk. 

“Both the temporary access to the site for construction and the permanent access 
would be made along a route leading from the U5273 (Garth Row Lane). If this 
route is to be resurfaced as part of the overall scheme then it would be necessary 
for public footpath No.570030 to be temporarily closed as described as it leads from 
the same point. In addition to this, a public footpath, which is numbered 570018, 
crosses this route and would also need to be temporarily closed if this planned.” 

Environment Agency  
3.6. Comments as follows: 

02 February 2021 

“We have no objection in principle to the description amendment to include 
additional “shared use buildings”. Our letter […] dated 14 January 2020, and the 
Flood Risk Assessment submitted under SL/2019/1032 are still valid for any 
additional “shared use buildings”. 

14 January 2020 

“We have no objection in principle to the outline planning proposal, but wish to 
make the following comments: 

“We have reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) prepared by Flood Risk 
Consultancy Limited (referenced 2019-021 Revision B, dated 05/12/2019), 
submitted with the application and we are satisfied that it demonstrates that the 
proposed development will not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding or exacerbate 
flood risk elsewhere. 

“The proposed development must proceed in strict accordance with this FRA and 
the mitigation measures identified as it will form part of any subsequent planning 
approval. Any proposed changes to the approved FRA and / or the mitigation 
measures identified will require the submission of a revised FRA as part of an 
amended planning application. 

“We have conducted a basic model review and are satisfied that the model is 
appropriate for the FRA. The FRA concludes the site to be in Flood Zone 1, 
however for planning purposes the Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning is 
valid and we therefore consider the site to be in Flood Zone 3. 

Page 40



 

9 

The FRA does consider the proposal to be in Flood Zone 3 when applying the 
relevant climate change allowances, and as such provides a suitable finished floor 
level of 79.1mAOD which is 0.6m higher than the modelled 1 in 100 year flood 
event plus 70% climate change allowance. 

“Please note that while we accept the findings of the FRA, in this instance, this 
should not be taken to mean that we accept the modelling undertaken or that 
changes to Flood Map for Planning will be made on this basis. Changes to Flood 
Map for Planning can and will only be made subject to formal challenge and after a 
successful evidence review, which would assess and approve the suitability of the 
model to make any changes to Flood Map for Planning. This is a separate process 
to planning consultations, and a process that can be technical and time consuming 
and for which it would be unrealistic to assume could be undertaken in timescales 
associated with the determination of Town and Country Planning Act applications.” 

Natural England  
3.7. Comments as follows:  

26 November 2020 

“Natural England agree with the conclusions and the mitigation proposed within the 
bat survey. 

“With regards to the HRA and subsequent CEMP we advise our previous 
comments are incorporated to ensure no impacts on the adjacent River Kent SAC: 

“If any excavations need to be left open overnight a means of escape for otter 
should be provided with a plank situated at no more than forty five degrees within 
the excavation. 

“Any lighting during the construction and operational phases of the development 
must be directed away from the River Sprint and the associated woodland, and 
construction works should be limited to daylight hours to prevent disturbance to 
foraging otter and bats. 

“Surface water discharge at the built stage of the development is proposed to go via 
a SuDS system. Details of this and its location need to be provided to ensure it will 
adequately remove contaminants before discharge to the river. 

“Foul water via a package treatment plant will require an Environmental Permit from 
the Environment Agency to ensure no deterioration in water quality of the SAC. 

“The proposed gravel track is in close proximity to the river bank. This should have 
a geotextile underlay and be a neutral stone. 

“Please contact the ecologist for advice on the likelihood of the buildings to be 
demolished being suitable for barn owl. 

Page 41



 

10 

“Please also seek at least a 10% biodiversity net gain for this proposal.” 

United Utilities 
3.8. Comments as follows:  

10 January 2020 

Recommends conditions in respect of: (1) surface water disposal; (2) maintenance 
of surface water disposal infrastructure; and (3) separate systems required for the 
disposal of foul and surface water.  

South Lakeland District Council 

Specialist – Arboriculture 
3.9. Comments as follows:  

17 January 2020 

“I have been to the site on a number of occasions and assessed the trees. In the 
event of outline permission being granted I recommend that the applicants are 
required at reserved matters stage to provide an Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
and Arboricultural Method Statement for the scheme. This will consider the impact 
of the finalised layout on existing trees and address any additional mitigation which 
may be necessary.” 

Public protection 
27 January 2020 

Recommends conditions in respect of: (1) private water supply; (2) foul drainage; (3) 
contaminated land; and (4) noise. [The recommended conditions in respect of private 
water supply and foul drainage raise issues beyond the remit of the local planning 
authority, but have been included as informatives in the recommendation].  

Neighbours / third parties 
3.10. We have received no letters from neighbours or third parties. 

4.0 Relevant planning policies  

South Lakeland Core Strategy 
4.1. The following Core Strategy policies are considered relevant to the proposal: 

CS1.1: Sustainable Development Principles 

Page 42



 

11 

CS1.2: The Development Strategy 

CS5:  The East (including Milnthorpe and Kirkby Lonsdale) 

CS6.6: Making Effective and Efficient Use of Land and Buildings 

CS8.1: Green Infrastructure 

CS8.2:  Protection and Enhancement of Landscape and Settlement Character 

CS8.4: Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

CS8.7: Sustainable Construction, Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy 

CS8.8: Development and Flood Risk 

CS8.10: Design 

CS10.2: Transport impact of new development 

South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan 
Document 
4.2. The following Land Allocations DPD policies are considered relevant to the 

proposal: 

LA1.0:  Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

LA1.1:  Development boundaries 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document (DMDPD) 
4.3. The following DMDPD policies are considered relevant to the proposal: 

DM1:  General Requirements for all development 

DM2: Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design 

DM4: Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping 

DM5: Rights of Way and other routes providing pedestrian, cycle and equestrian access 

DM6: Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems  

DM7: Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact and Water Quality 

DM8: High Speed Broadband for New Developments 

DM11 – Accessible and Adaptable Homes 

DM12 – Self-Build and Custom Build Housing 

Page 43



 

12 

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework 
4.4. The following sections are considered relevant to this application. 

2.  Achieving sustainable development 
4.  Decision-making 
9. Promoting sustainable transport 
11.  Making effective use of land 
12.  Achieving well-designed places 
14.  Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
15.  Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Cumbria Development Design Guide 

5.0 Assessment 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development 
5.1. Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) introduces the 

overarching economic, social and environmental objectives central to achieving 
sustainable development. Paragraph 9 is clear that these objectives should be 
delivered through the preparation and implementation of development plans and 
the application of the policies in the NPPF; they are not criteria against which every 
decision can or should be judged. Planning policies and decisions should play an 
active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so 
should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and 
opportunities of each area.  

5.2. To these ends paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that plans and decisions should 
apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraphs 11(c) and 
11(d) tell us that for decision-taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or  

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless:  

Page 44



 

13 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed1; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole.  

5.3. Paragraph 12 of the NPPF tells us that: 

“Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan […] 
permission should not usually be granted.” 

The development strategy 

Policy position  
5.4. In terms of applying the NPPF’s presumption in favour of sustainable development, 

those policies within the Council’s development plan that establish the District’s 
overall development strategy are among the most important.  

5.5. Core Strategy policy CS1.2 (The Development Strategy) identifies a four-tier, 
sustainable settlement hierarchy for the District comprising: (1) the Principal Service 
Centres of Kendal and Ulverston at the top, where the majority of new housing and 
employment development will be concentrated; (2) three, Key Service Centres; (3) 
17 smaller Local Service Centres; and (4) finally, a disperse pattern of “Rural 
Settlements” comprising smaller villages and hamlets, some (but not all) of which 
are identified on Figure 6 (page 20) in the Core Strategy.  

5.6. The Land Allocations DPD identifies development boundaries for the three tiers of 
service centres, but not for “Rural Settlements”. The definition of these smaller 
individual villages and hamlets, and decisions about whether or not they are 
sustainable locations for growth, has always been a matter of judgment. Areas 
beyond the limits of any settlement are regarded as being within open countryside, 
wherein there is a general presumption against new development. 

5.7. The updated version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), published 
in February 2019, reinforces the potential role of villages, stating (at paragraph 78) 
that: 

                                            
1 The policies referred to are those in the NPPF (rather than those in development plans) relating to: habitats 
sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176 of the NPPF) and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a 
National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated 
heritage assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF); 
and areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.   

Page 45



 

14 

“To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning policies 
should identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this 
will support local services.”  

5.8. DMPDP policy DM13 was introduced to provide a clearer definition of smaller 
villages and hamlets and to establish a series of criteria for assessing the suitability 
of any new development proposed in settlements of this scale. Policy DM13 
replaces that part of Core Strategy policy CS1.2, and supporting paragraph 2.25, 
relating to small scale ‘infilling and rounding off’ housing development on the edge 
of the district’s small villages and hamlets with no development boundaries. 

5.9. Core Strategy policy CS1.2 maintains a general presumption against development 
outside of recognised settlements, although recognising that: 

“Exceptionally, new development will be permitted in the open countryside where it 
has an essential requirement for a rural location, is needed to sustain existing 
businesses, provides for exceptional needs for affordable housing, is an appropriate 
extension of an existing building or involves the appropriate change of use of an 
existing building.” 

5.10. This is consistent with paragraph 79 pf the NPPF which states that: 

“Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated homes in 
the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances apply:  

a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority 
control of a farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in 
the countryside;  

b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or 
would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage 
assets;  

c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its 
immediate setting;  

d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential 
dwelling; or  

e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:  

f) is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, 
and would help to raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and  

g) would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the 
defining characteristics of the local area.”  

5.11. Although the Core Strategy is now 10 years old, its approach towards focusing 
development within, or on the edge of, identified settlements (as 

Page 46



 

15 

amended by DMDPD policy DM13) remains up-to-date for purposes of applying the 
NPPF. 

The position at Holme House Farm 
5.12. Holme House Farm is located approximately 4km north of Kendal and 2km east of 

Burneside. It lies beyond the development boundaries of any of the Principal, Key 
and Local Service Centres identified in the Land Allocations DPD and it is remote 
from any other smaller village or hamlet. It does not represent a “recognised 
settlement of normally 10 or more dwellings”, which would give it some status in the 
context of DMPDP policy DM13. The proposal does not qualify under any of the 
exceptions listed in Core Strategy policy CS1.2, nor in paragraph 79 of the NPPF. 
Consequently, for the purpose of applying the District’s up-to-date development 
strategy Holme House Farm is in the open countryside and the current proposal is 
contrary to the objectives of Core Strategy policy CS1.2 and DMDPD policy DM13.  

5.13. It therefore follows that the proposal does not enjoy the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as it is defined in paragraph 11 of the NPPF.  

Previously-developed land 
5.14. The applicants have stressed that this proposal involves previously-developed or 

‘brownfield’ land. That is a moot point. The NPPF’s definition of previously-
developed land precludes land which is not occupied by a permanent structure and 
land “last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings”. That definition would seem 
to exclude the land occupied by the existing caravans / mobile homes, and may 
also exclude some of the non-residential buildings. The 2010 appeal decision states 
(at paragraph 52) that: 

“… the baseline development on the site comprises agricultural use, 6 residential 
units (the 4 LDC caravans and the sub-divided farm house), and the independent 
business/storage use of at least some of the farm buildings.”  

5.15. And the officer’s report into the 2017 permission describes the site as follows:  

“The existing complex of buildings consist of the original farmhouse split into two 
dwellings and four permanent caravans plus a number of modern farm buildings of 
varying styles and construction which have been used for agricultural and business 
purposes.” 

5.16. Having said all of that, the Schedule of Extant and Implemented Permissions at 31 
March 20202  in the South Lakeland Housing Land Annual Position Statement 31 
March 2020 does record the site as brownfield.  

                                            
2 The Schedule incorrectly refers to the 2017 permission as an extant consent. It was an outline planning permission 
and reserved matters were not submitted before 23 February 2020 as required. 

Page 47



 

16 

5.17. Whether the site is brownfield is largely academic. Previously-developed land is 
prioritised for development, but not in a manner that compromises an overall 
sustainable development strategy.  

5.18. Paragraph 117 of the NPPF is clear that: 

“Planning policies and decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting 
the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the 
environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. Strategic policies 
should set out a clear strategy for accommodating objectively assessed needs, in a 
way that makes as much use as possible of previously-developed or ‘brownfield’ 
land.” 

5.19. The Council’s strategic policies do just that. Core Strategy policy CS1.2 is explicit 
that: 

“Priority will be given to the reuse of existing buildings and previously developed 
land for all new housing development, with a target of ensuring that at least 28% of 
new housing development takes place on such sites.” 

5.20. This target is repeated in Core Strategy policy CS6.6 (Making effective and efficient 
use of land and buildings), along with the comment that the Council will seek to 
make effective and efficient use of land and buildings by “Supporting a strategy to 
bring previously developed land and buildings and empty housing into housing 
use.” 

5.21. Core Strategy policy CS1.1 (Sustainable Development Principles) prioritises the 
reuse of previously-developed land in its sequential approach to development, but 
with the clear caveat that this should be on “previously developed land within 
settlements”. 

Self-build 
5.22. The proposal is explicitly for five self-build units. Policy DM12 of the DMDPD states 

that the “Council will actively support proposals for the sustainable development of 
self-build and custom build homes”. However, consistent with the development 
strategy in the Core Strategy, the DMDPD’s interpretation of sustainable in this 
context limits appropriate locations for this type of development to:  

• within Principal , Key or Local Service Centres;  

• within or on the edge of small villages and hamlets in accordance with policy 
DM13 (Housing Development in Small Villages and Hamlets);  

• on rural exception sites in accordance with policy DM14 (Rural Exception Sites).  

5.23. The circumstances described in policies DM13 and DM14 do not apply in this case, 
nor are they being argued to be applicable. Therefore, the proposal does not enjoy 

Page 48



 

17 

the support of policy DM12.  

Co-housing 
5.24. The applicant’s co-housing proposals for the site are set out in their “Vision and 

Values Statement”, which is available to view online. Their aspirations are laudable, 
but co-housing is not a model for living that currently receives any special 
recognition in the development plan. And whilst not doubting the applicant’s 
intentions, their personal circumstances carry no weight in the planning process. 
Any permission would enure for the land, and successors in title would not be 
bound to the same lifestyle.  Therefore, it is important that Members determine this 
application in accordance the relevant policies.  

Replacement dwellings 
5.25. The Council’s development plan has no specific policy relating to replacement 

dwellings in the open countryside. Nevertheless, established residential use can be 
a material consideration when assessing whether or not the principle of new 
housing is acceptable in locations where, as at Holme House Farm, it would 
otherwise be in conflict with the District’s development strategy.  

5.26. On 21 May 1998 the Council issued a Certificate of Lawful Use or Development 
(CLU) for “The stationing of four static caravans […] for the use as permanent 
residence.” The positions of these caravans were clearly marked 1 – 4 on a plan 
attached to the certificate. The certificate also states: 

“This certificate applies only to the extent of the use described in the First Schedule 
[see above] and to the land specified in the Second Schedule and the attached 
plan. Any use which is materially different from that described or which relates to 
other land may render the owner or occupier liable to enforcement action.”    

5.27. A number of unauthorised uses occurred after 1998, culminating in the Council 
serving an enforcement notice in May 2009. This alleged: 

“The material change of use of the land from an agricultural use, associated 
farmstead and site for four residential caravans [subject of the earlier CLU] to a 
mixed use incorporating: (1) the stationing and residential use of 13 additional 
caravans with associated external domestic storage in the form of both open 
domestic storage and the placing of storage sheds and touring caravans for the 
purpose of domestic storage […]; (2) the stationing of two further residential 
caravans with associated extensions and structural additions […]; (3) the storage of 
builders’ materials including stone, masonry, timber and salvaged materials [and] 
without planning permission operational development comprising: (1) the erection of 
a building [and]; (2) the installation of a foul drainage system […].  

5.28. A subsequent appeal was dismissed and the enforcement notice was upheld with 

Page 49



 

18 

variations. Thereafter, the unauthorised development was removed.  

5.29. The appeal decision takes as read that the lawful use of the site at the time (2010) 
was a combination of permanent residences together with a range of businesses in 
the former farm buildings. Six residences were accepted as lawful: the four static 
caravans subject to the earlier CLU; and two dwellings in the original farmhouse. 
The following comment from the inspector’s decision letter is noteworthy:  

“The Council indicated that although planning permission had not been granted, the 
sub-division of the farm house into two dwellings and the use of the farm buildings 
for independent business purposes would accord with their development plan 
policies.” 

5.30. The four static caravans were marked on a plan annexed to the enforcement notice 
(Plan J). This plans shows them in slightly different positions to those shown in the 
CLU, but neither the Council nor the inspector queried that at the time. All parties 
seem to have accepted that the adjustments to the positions of these units were 
inconsequential.  

5.31. In 2017 we granted outline planning permission for five dwellings under reference 
SL/2016/1150. The officer’s report at the time acknowledged the policy presumption 
against “development in isolated rural areas”, but supported the principle of 
development on the basis that: 

“… the proposal seeks to re-develop a brownfield site, reduce the overall quantum 
of development and the number of dwellings. Whilst not readily accessible other 
than by car, this situation already exists.” 

5.32. The Planning Committee accepted this argument, recognising the presence of the 
existing dwellings on the site and weighing them (and other matters) in the overall 
planning balance. The outline permission placed no limits on the size of the new 
dwellings; this was left as a matter to be resolved through the determination of 
reserved matters.  

5.33. Were the 2017 outline planning permission still valid then it would represent a lawful 
“fallback” for the broad principle of what is now being proposed. It is generally 
accepted that an extant planning permission can be a material consideration in 
determining subsequent planning applications on the same site, albeit that the 
weight will vary considerably depending on circumstances. However, in this case, 
the 2017 permission has now lapsed; reserved matters were not submitted before 
23 February 2020 as required. Consequently, the 2017 permission itself carries no 
weight, although, arguably, the fact that a permission has been granted within the 
last four years might have some relevance.  

5.34. Setting the last point aside, we still have to consider the weight to be applied to 
what we might term the “original fallback”: the six residences acknowledged as 
lawful in 2010, and also, it seems, in 2017 when they were accepted as one of a 
number of overriding material considerations in the grant of 

Page 50



 

19 

outline planning permission. There are two aspects to the fallback in this context: 
(1) whether or not the planning status of the existing properties means the principle 
of some sort of replacement is acceptable in this case; and (2) if the principle is 
acceptable, whether the scale of the existing structures means that we should be 
limiting the size of any replacements.  

Fallback in consideration of the principle 
5.35. In different circumstances we might have challenged the lawfulness of the four 

caravans on the basis that they are in different positions to those shown in the CLU. 
After all, the First Schedule of the CLU refers to a plan in which their positions are 
clearly marked and the Second Schedule is explicit that “This certificate applies 
only to the extent of the use described in the First Schedule […]”, inviting us to at 
least query any subsequent change. However, there have been two clear 
opportunities for us to mount such a challenge: first, during the 2010 appeal; and, 
second, when we assessed the materiality of the lawfulness of these units in 
reaching the decision to grant outline planning permission in 2017. And on neither 
occasion did we raise any concerns. That doesn’t preclude pursuing the matter 
now, but the reasonableness of that is questionable given the circumstances 
described above. Also, there is the very real likelihood that, the question of 
abandonment aside (which is discussed further below), these four units may well be 
able to secure a CLU for their new locations. It is well over ten years since we 
issued the enforcement notice which first shows these caravans in their current 
positions.  

Abandonment 
5.36. Consideration needs to be given to whether the permanent residential use for the 

caravans, and the farmhouse, seemingly acknowledged as lawful in 2010 and then 
again in 2017, has been abandoned, thereby eliminating the “fallback” which 
weighed so heavily in the 2017 decision to grant outline planning permission. A 
superficial examination of the condition of the buildings would suggest that any 
former residential use has indeed been abandoned, but the issue is more complex 
than that. 

5.37. Under the heading of Planning obligations (and specifically in considering vacant 
building credit) paragraph 028 of the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance 
summarises the concept of abandonment as follows:  

“The courts have held that, in deciding whether a use has been abandoned, 
account should be taken of all relevant circumstances, such as: 

• the condition of the property 

• the period of non-use 

• whether there is an intervening use; and 

Page 51



 

20 

• any evidence regarding the owner’s intention” 

5.38. These criteria stem from a court case dating from 1985 - The Trustees of Castell-y-
Mynach Estate v Taff-Ely BC.  

5.39. In response to the suggestion that the residential use of the site might have been 
abandoned the new owners have submitted a considerable amount of evidence 
under the headings listed above. Two documents are key: (1) one received 28 July 
2020 (“the applicant’s evidence on abandonment”); and (2) “Further Information on 
Sustainability and Data to Inform a Baseline” (“the applicant’s Sustainability 
Assessment”). Both of these documents are available to view online.  

The condition of the properties  

The farmhouse 
5.40. The farmhouse is, for the most part, a substantial, masonry structure. It is 

predominantly 2-storeys, but with single storey lean-tos to the north and east. That 
to north also being of masonry construction. Overall it’s a dilapidated-looking 
building, but not derelict. Heras fencing has been placed to prevent access to the 
southern side of the building, although it can still be accessed from the north.  

5.41. The building has been occupied as two separate properties, known as Oak Lodge 
and Holly Lodge. Council tax records confirm that Oak Lodge has been classed as 
continuously empty and unoccupied since 28 August 2017 and that Holly Lodge 
has been classed the same since 31 December 2015. 

The caravans 
5.42. The less substantial construction of the caravans (or, more properly, mobile homes) 

and the fact that they have been on site in excess of ten years means that they all 
have a very tired appearance. A more detailed description of each follows, using 
the names assigned to them in the plan attached to the 2009 enforcement  notice. 

Sycamore Lodge 
5.43. Sycamore Lodge is situated immediately to the right (east) upon entering the site. 

The applicant’s Sustainability Assessment records the structure as having a single 
bedroom and a footprint of 62.71 sq. m. The external elevations are in poor 
condition, although there is evidence of recent work to apply new cladding and the 
structure appears to be watertight. Internally, Sycamore Lodge is in the best 
condition of all four caravans; there is evidence of recent improvements to the walls 
and floors (there appears to be a new laminate flooring in the room to the west) and 
work appears to be underway to install some form of solid fuel burner; a flue and a 
hearth are in the process of being installed. There is a substantial wraparound 
wooden deck to the west and south of the building.  

Page 52



 

21 

5.44. Council tax records confirm that Sycamore Lodge has been classed as 
continuously empty and unoccupied since 14 December 2016.  

Pine Lodge 
5.45. Pine Lodge is positioned in the north-east corner of the main building cluster, on 

slightly elevated ground. The applicant’s Sustainability Assessment records the 
structure as having two bedrooms and a footprint of 56.52 sq. m. Externally there 
are signs of deterioration, although it appears watertight. There is little evidence of 
recent occupation from what can be seen of the inside of the structure. And the 
amount of vegetation encroaching over the main pedestrian access to the west 
reinforces the view that it is some while since this unit was last used. 

5.46. Council tax records confirm that Sycamore Lodge has been classed as 
continuously empty and unoccupied since 14 December 2016. 

Fern Lodge 
5.47. Fern Lodge is positioned in the north-east corner of the main building cluster, 

enclosed to the east and west by former farm buildings (more recently used for 
general employment purposes).  The applicant’s Sustainability Assessment records 
the structure as having two bedrooms and a footprint of 53.31 sq. m. The structure 
appears very tired from the outside, and there was a broken window on the west 
elevation when the site was visited in July 2020 – although the agent for the 
scheme asserts that this is a consequence of ongoing problems with vandalism 
rather than a sign of neglect. Internally, this unit appears to be well-equipped; there 
is a fully-fitted kitchen in the south-west corner.  

5.48. Council tax records confirm that Fern Lodge has been classed as continuously 
empty and unoccupied since 06 November 2017. 

Willow Lodge 
5.49. Willow Lodge sits towards the western boundary of the site, close to the River 

Sprint. The applicant’s Sustainability Assessment records the structure as having 
three bedrooms and a footprint of 87.12 sq. m. It is in better condition externally 
than some of the other units. There is little evidence of it having been recently 
occupied, although it appears to be watertight. 

5.50. Council tax records confirm that Willow Lodge has been classed as continuously 
empty and unoccupied since 28 July 2016. 

Conclusions on condition 
5.51. Nobody with reasonable expectations of a permanent home would regard the units 

on this site as desirable residences in their current condition. Other than the 
location, which many would undoubtedly regard as appealing, the standard of 
accommodation is presently very poor. Furthermore, we know 

Page 53



 

22 

from the applicant’s evidence on abandonment that the site currently has no mains 
electricity and questionable water and sewage connections.  

The period of non-use 
5.52. Although there is little evidence of recent occupation, the 2010 appeal decision 

implies that all six units regarded as lawful at that time were occupied. In 
commenting on the appeal on ground (a), and specifically the issue of whether the 
development is in a sustainable location for residential and commercial 
development – the inspector accepts (at paragraph 60) that “… 6 households are 
likely to remain at Holme House Farm if the requirements of the enforcement notice 
are complied with …”. Furthermore, the evidence submitted in the applicant’s 
evidence on abandonment indicates that the selling agents for the previous owners 
(Carter Jonas) needed to take direct action between October 2016 and December 
2017 to terminate the contracts of tenants in occupation at that time. A Planning 
and Sustainability Statement prepared by Carter Jones (December 2016) in support 
of the 2016 outline planning application states: 

“The residential accommodation is currently occupied by five tenants, with the 
accommodation in something of a dilapidated condition and in need of 
refurbishment.” 

5.53. However, this does suggests that one of the six residential units may have been 
vacant at that time.  

5.54. The applicant’s evidence on abandonment also tell us that the site was vacant for a 
period of 21 months between December 2017 and September 2019 when new 
owners acquired it. Since then, we are told, the site has been fully risk-assessed for 
health and safety purposes and there has been a rolling program of repairs and site 
management. 

5.55. Other documented cases suggest that any period of non-use needs to be 
considerable if it is to factor significantly in any assessment of abandonment. In this 
case, the evidence suggests that there may have been no active residential use for 
approximately three years, albeit that efforts to recommence that use have been 
ongoing since September 2019. In those circumstances it seems very unlikely that 
non-use would be a compelling argument in supporting a case of abandonment.  

Whether there has been an intervening use 
5.56. There is no evidence of any intervening uses.  

The owners’ intentions 
5.57. In another significant legal case - Hughes v SSETR & South Holland DC [2000] - 

the Court of Appeal held that the test of the owner’s intentions should be objective 
and not subjective. In this regard the test was the view to be taken by “a reasonable 

Page 54



 

23 

man with knowledge of all the relevant circumstances”. 

5.58. The applicant’s evidence on abandonment make clear their intention: 

“The group bought the site intending to act on [the 2017 outline] planning 
permission, demolish the existing buildings and build new residential properties. 
Most of the group intend to live on site while this work is being carried out, either in 
existing lodges (where the footprint of the new properties permits them to remain 
standing during the construction process) or in temporary accommodation”. 

5.59. We are also told that; 

“The group applied for a community housing grant from SLDC shortly after 
purchase and were awarded £185,318 by SLDC in December 2019. The grant 
covers the costs of preparing the site ready for each member of the group to 
commence the build of their own home. As a community-led scheme which aims to 
develop ecologically sustainable housing at a relatively low cost, it aims to be a 
flagship scheme for the locality, demonstrating a positive new way of co-living. 
SLDC has clearly recognised the benefits of the development already.”  

5.60. In summary on this issue, relatively little has happened on site since the new 
owners acquired it in September 2019, although this is undoubtedly due in part to 
the restrictions brought about by Covid-19. Nevertheless, one thing they could have 
done was submit the reserved matters necessary to keep the 2017 outline planning 
permission alive, and it seems extraordinary that they didn’t. But this seems to have 
been an oversight rather than evidence of lost intentions to redevelop the site for 
residential purposes. Overall, in the light of the evidence that has been provided 
there can be little doubt that the current owners’ intentions have always been to 
maintain what they believed to be the established residential use of the site, albeit 
through redevelopment rather than long-term occupation of the existing units,  

Conclusions - fallback in consideration of the principle  
5.61. Taking into account: (a) the criteria for judging the issue of abandonment in the 

government’s Planning Practice Guidance; (b) the applicant’s evidence on 
abandonment in respect of those criteria; and (c) the planning history relevant to the 
current positions of the four “static caravans” referred to in the 1998 CLU – it is 
reasonable to conclude that the six permanent residential units of accommodation 
on this site remain lawful, and are a material consideration to be weighed in the 
balance in determining this application, accepting that residential development of 
the nature proposed would otherwise be contrary to the development plan.   

Fallback in consideration of the size of the dwellings  
5.62. Accepting the presence of the existing dwellings on the site as a material 

consideration in judging whether the principle of the proposed replacements is 
acceptable is one thing, but their physical characteristics are also material in 
determining the overall scale of the proposed replacements. Not 

Page 55



 

24 

scale in the sense of a reserved matter – defined as “the height, width and length of 
each building proposed within the development in relation to its surroundings”, but 
scale in terms of its implication for sustainability.  

5.63. In reaching her conclusions on the ground (a) appeal in the 2010 enforcement case 
the inspector concluded (at paragraph 60) that: 

“The appeal site is not in a sustainable location. It is neither on a public transport 
route nor close to one. While some residents cycle or walk to the nearest 
settlements, and a degree of car-sharing takes place, for the most part access to 
and from the site is reliant upon private transport, or hazardous walking along 
narrow and/or busy roads.” 

5.64. All of this remains true. And whilst the six existing units on the site already suffer 
this inherent unsustainability, their harmful impact is (or would be if they were 
occupied) restricted by their relatively small size. The number of trips to obtain 
access to services – employment, schools, shops, health care etc. – whether by 
private transport, or by the hazardous walk referred to in the 2010 appeal decision, 
is limited by the physical capacity of the existing units to house people. And so, 
whilst their presence might represent a material consideration that outweighs the 
policy presumption against the principle of replacement dwellings that would 
otherwise apply in this location, they do not establish carte blanche for replacement 
dwellings of any size. To meet the overall objectives of the Core Strategy’s 
development strategy, and the associated policy in the NPPF, the new dwellings in 
this case must be of a scale that makes them no more unsustainable than the 
buildings they replace. And that is a matter to be determined as part of this outline 
application; it is not within the scope of scale as it is defined for the purposes of 
determining any subsequent reserved matters proposal. 

5.65. Page 20 of the applicant’s Sustainability Assessment contains a detailed survey of 
the size of existing buildings on the site: 

 
Beds Main Footprint (m2) Outbuildings (m2) 

Willow Lodge 3 87.12 53.92 
Fern Lodge 2 53.31 18.68 
Pine Lodge 2 56.52 51.35 
Sycamore Lodge 1 62.71 19.84 
Farmhouse  3 153.93 67.6 

Totals 413.59 168.55 

5.66. The existing mobile homes themselves are all very small: in fact three of them 
(Willow Lodge, Fern Lodge and Pine Lodge) have footprints that fall below the high 
end of the minimum gross internal floor areas for dwellings with the equivalent 

Page 56



 

25 

number of bedrooms in the nationally described space standard3. However, each 
unit has a reasonably generous amount of additional space in a variety of 
outbuildings. The status of these outbuildings is moot; the 1998 CLU only refers to 
“four static caravans” and whilst there is reference to “associated external domestic 
storage” in the 2010 appeal decision, they were not catalogued at that time. 
Nevertheless, the various outbuildings and other structures surveyed in the 
applicant’s Sustainability Assessment all appear to be well-established and, for the 
purposes of the following discussion, have been assumed to be lawful. 

5.67. Negotiations with the applicants have established baseline floorspace figures for 
each existing residential unit as the product of: (a) either the footprint of the existing 
main residential unit or the high end of the minimum gross internal floor areas for a 
two-storey unit with an equivalent number of bedrooms as set out in the nationally 
described space standard, whichever is the greater; plus (b) the area of the existing 
outbuildings. It would be churlish to expect a replacement dwelling to fall below the 
national minimum standards for an equivalent sized unit and whilst the national 
standards for two-storey dwellings (the applicant’s preference) are larger, this 
simply reflects the need to accommodate additional circulation space (stairs etc.). 
This method of calculation produces the following totals: 

  (a) (b) (c)  
 Beds Main 

Footprint 
(m2) 

Equivalent 
National 
standard 

(m2) 

Outbuildings 
footprint 

(m2) 

Greater of 
(a) and (b) 

plus (c) 

Willow 
Lodge 3 87.12 104.5 53.92 158.42 

Fern Lodge 2 53.31 81 18.68 99.68 
Pine Lodge 2 56.52 81 51.35 132.35 
Sycamore 
Lodge 1 62.71 59.5 19.84 82.55 

Farmhouse  3 153.93 104.5 67.6 221.53 
Totals 413.59  168.55 694.53 

5.68. Divided equally between the five proposed dwellings this would equate to 140 sq. 
m. each. There is a defensible logic to this method of calculation, and it works to the 
applicant’s advantage in a number of ways.  It adds a modest amount to the overall 
total floorspace (to achieve the minimum nationally described space standards) and 
it introduces the flexibility to use existing incidental floorspace (some of which is of 
questionable provenance and condition) as primary accommodation if so desired. 
Furthermore, accepting that modern construction techniques will inevitably lead to 
more substantial external walls (the thickness of which would ordinarily count 

                                            
3 Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard, March 2015, Department for 
Communities and Local Government 

Page 57



 

26 

against floorspace measured in terms of footprint) it is being recommended in this 
case that the 140 sq. m. is defined as gross internal area. The configuration of this 
in each case would be determined by consideration of reserved matters in the usual 
manner, subject to the further discussion under the “landscape impact” heading 
below.  

5.69. All-in-all this is a generous but reasonable reinterpretation of the existing floorspace 
on the site, which, if accepted, would substitute the existing, poor quality 
accommodation (mobile homes in some cases) with substantial replacements, each 
of which would be appreciably larger than the core residential unit being 
supplanted. It is being recommended that the 140 sq. m. should also include any 
incidental structures, as it does now. Further ancillary accommodation would be 
provided in the form of the “shared-use buildings” discussed further below.  

Shared-use buildings 
5.70. The applicant’s co-housing aspirations establish the need for a certain amount of 

shared floorspace for such things as storage of agricultural machinery and produce, 
workshops, glasshouse and at some time in the future, a meeting room. These 
requirements are typical of other co-housing projects around the country. It is 
unclear where buildings of this nature would sit relative to development plan policy; 
they would not fit neatly within any established category, although incidental 
residential buildings and agricultural buildings are generally acceptable in principle, 
even in the open countryside.  

5.71. In this case the site already contains a significant number of buildings in addition to 
the residential (and incidental residential) buildings described above. These are a 
legacy of the site’s former agricultural and commercial uses. None have been 
officially recognised as lawful (through a lawful development certificate), although 
they were assumed to be so in the 2010 appeal decision.  The survey on page 20 
of the applicant’s Sustainability Assessment puts the cumulative footprint of these 
buildings at 638.48 sq. m. The shared-use buildings are proposed to replace these, 
up to maximum floor area of 480 sq. m. – approximately 75% of what exists. This is 
judged acceptable in principle. Unresolved details can be determined by 
consideration of reserved matters in the usual manner, subject to the further 
discussion under the “landscape impact” heading below.  

Affordable housing 
5.72. Core Strategy policy CS6.3 (Provision of affordable housing) sets out the Council’s 

expectations for affordable housing. However, the Council’s Affordable Housing 
Planning Policy Guidance Note November 2018 updates Policy CS6.3 to bring it in 
line with the NPPF. Consequently, within the District’s designated rural area, which 

Page 58



 

27 

includes the current application site4, there is no expectation of affordable housing 
associated with schemes of five or less dwellings.  

Flood risk 
5.73. The application site abuts the River Sprint. The Environment Agency Flood Map for 

Planning shows the majority of the site to be within Flood Zone 3a, fringed by areas 
of Flood Zone 2. This means that the majority of the site has a 1 in 100 or greater 
annual probability of river flooding – placing it at high risk.  

5.74. Core Strategy Policy CS8.8 expects most new development to be located in Flood 
Zone 1, where the risk of fluvial inundation is at its lowest. And it goes on to state 
that development within the Environment Agency’s Flood Zones 2, 3a and 3b will 
only be acceptable when it is compatible with national policy and when the 
Sequential Test and the Exception Test, where appropriate, have both been 
satisfied. 

5.75. National policy in this context is referring to the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), wherein paragraph 155 establishes the broad principle that:  

“Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by 
directing development away from areas at highest risk (whether existing or future). 
Where development is necessary in such areas, the development should be made 
safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.”  

5.76. Paragraph 158 of the NPPF explains that: 

“The aim of the sequential test is to steer new development to areas with the lowest 
risk of flooding. Development should not be allocated or permitted if there are 
reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a 
lower risk of flooding.” 

5.77. If there are no reasonably available, sequentially-preferable sites (meaning that the 
Sequential Test is passed) then the development still has to meet the Exception 
Test. Paragraph 160 of the NPPF explains that for the Exception Test to be passed 
it should be demonstrated that: 

a) the development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community 
that outweigh the flood risk; and  

b) the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of 
its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will 
reduce flood risk overall.  

5.78. In this case the applicants flood risk assessment5 (FRA) begins on the premise that: 
                                            
4 Everywhere in SLDC other than the parishes of Kendal, Grange-over-Sands and Ulverston is a “designated 
rural area” 

Page 59



 

28 

“Following consultation with the Environment Agency it was determined that […] 
there is no modelled flood data for the River Sprint in the vicinity of the development 
site.”  

5.79. The FRA then moves on to develop a hydraulic model of the River Sprint in the 
vicinity of the application site using design flows obtained from a range of methods, 
including historic flood data from a river gauging station downstream from the 
application site. The FRA concludes that:  

“Comparison of the modelled flood data and the topographical survey of the site 
indicates that the site is located wholly within Flood Zone 1. 

“The highest water level in proximity to the development is 78.496m AOD […] 
during the 1 in 100-year + 70% climate change flood event. 

“The river bank level is elevated at 79.281m AOD; and is 0.785m above the water 
level.” 

The Sequential Test 
5.80. Paragraph 034 of the government’s Planning Practice Guidance on Flood risk and 

coastal change states that: 

“It is for local planning authorities, taking advice from the Environment Agency as 
appropriate, to consider the extent to which Sequential Test considerations have 
been satisfied, taking into account the particular circumstances in any given case.” 

5.81. In this case, the Environment Agency has confirmed that it is satisfied that the 
model used in the applicant’s FRA “is appropriate” and, consequently, it is not 
pressing us to pursue the Sequential Test. The Environment Agency appears 
satisfied that the site exhibits the characteristics of being within Flood Zone 1, 
notwithstanding the emphatic view expressed in its consultation response that “for 
planning purposes the Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning is valid and we 
therefore consider the site to be in Flood Zone 3”.  

5.82. Paragraph 033 of the government’s Planning Practice Guidance on Flood risk and 
coastal change states that: 

“When applying the Sequential Test, a pragmatic approach on the availability of 
alternatives should be taken.” 

5.83. In other words, the Sequential Test does not have to be applied slavishly, a 
common sense approach is called for.  

                                                                                                                                                   
5 Level 2 Scoping Study Flood Risk & Drainage Impact Assessment, Flood Risk Consultancy Limited, Report 
No: 2019-021 Revision B, 05 December 2019 

Page 60



 

29 

5.84. In this case, we could take the view that the site is within Flood Zone 3 (as the 
Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning continues to show) and then apply the 
Sequential Test to try to identify an alternative site (within Flood Zone 1) where five 
dwellings could be placed at lower risk. Alternatively, we could accept the 
conclusions of the applicant’s FRA (as the Environment Agency has done) and take 
the view that – notwithstanding what is shown on the Environment Agency Flood 
Map for Planning – the applicant’s FRA represents the most up-to-date evidence 
and demonstrates that the application site is, for practical purposes, already within 
Flood Zone 1 and, therefore, nothing would be gained by applying the Sequential 
Test.  

5.85. There is another consideration to be weighed in making this particular judgment: 
the fact that the site is already occupied by six dwellings, which (if the earlier 
conclusions of this report are accepted) remain lawful. Therefore, this proposal is 
not introducing a risk where one does not already exist. Furthermore, four of the six 
existing six units are mobile homes which are at a greater risk than permanent 
dwellings would be. Table 2 in the government’s Planning Practice Guidance on 
flood risk and coastal change categorises different types of uses and development 
according to their vulnerability to flood risk. “Caravans, mobile homes and park 
homes intended for permanent residential use” are classed as “highly vulnerable” 
and are, therefore, at greater risk than “Buildings used for dwelling houses …”, 
which are classed as “more vulnerable”.  Moreover, as discussed further below, 
redeveloping the site offers the prospect of raising finished floor levels, reducing the 
risk of flooding even further. 

5.86. Taking all of the above into account, it is considered that the Sequential Test serves 
no beneficial purpose in this case.  

Site specific responses 
5.87. The applicant’s FRA also considers the likely impact of climate change by modelling 

the return periods for a  number potential flooding events, including the 1 in 100 
year, 1 in 100 year plus 35% climate change and 1 in 100 year plus 70% climate 
change.  The last of these is modelled to produce a water level of 78.496m AOD, 
which would overtop the river bank (79.281m AOD) and potentially flood the site. 
Given that the typical life expectancy of a house is to taken to be 100 years, an 
event of this severity does represent a risk. Consequently, the Environment Agency 
has recommended that finished floor levels of all proposed buildings are set no 
lower than 79.1m AOD, which is 0.6m higher than the modelled 1 in 100 year flood 
event plus 70% climate change allowance. At this level the Environment Agency is 
satisfied that none of the proposed buildings would be at risk of flooding, and none 
would increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.  

Page 61



 

30 

Surface water drainage 
5.88. The stated purpose of DMDPD policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management and 

Sustainable Drainage Systems) is “[t]o ensure existing and new development is not 
exposed to flood risk and to prioritise the promotion of Sustainable Drainage 
Systems.” To that end it states that: 

“Development proposals should include the use of appropriate sustainable drainage 
systems which are designed to control surface water run off close to where it falls 
and mimic natural drainage systems as closely as possible.” 

5.89. Furthermore, the policy states that: 

“Surface water should be managed at the source, with reduced transfer and 
discharge elsewhere.” 

5.90. And, consistent with the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance6, the policy 
expects surface run off to be discharged as high up the following hierarchy of 
drainage options as reasonably practicable: 

• into the ground (infiltration at source);  

• to a surface water body;  

• to a surface water sewer, or other suitable surface water drainage system;  

• to a combined sewer.  

5.91. At Holme House Farm the submitted Design and Access Statement tells us that: 

“Surface water will be dealt with on site. A detailed scheme will come with the 
[reserved matters] application.” 

5.92. The FRA submitted with this application states that “Desktop investigations suggest 
that infiltration methods could potentially be viable …” However, it goes on to state 
that: 

“If it is deemed that infiltration via soakaway is not viable then surface water should 
be discharged to the River Sprint which runs along the west of the development 
site. Surface water discharging into the River Sprint must be restricted to existing 
greenfield runoff rates or a minimum of 5l/s whichever is the highest; and flows in 
excess of this will need to be attenuated on-site.” 

5.93. On the strength of this assessment that lead local flood authority has concluded 
that: 

                                            
6 Paragraph: 080 Reference ID: 7-080-20150323 

Page 62



 

31 

“Submitted details show the outline proposal of the drainage and it is acceptable in 
principle, however detailed plans need to be submitted for approval with the 
reserved matter stage of the application.” 

Foul drainage 
5.94. The application proposes a package treatment plant for the disposal of wastewater.  

5.95. DMDPD policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems) 
states that: 

“The first presumption will be for new development to drain to the public sewerage 
system. Non-mains drainage systems will not be acceptable in sewered areas. 
Where alternative on-site treatment systems are proposed, it is for the developer to 
demonstrate that connection to the public sewerage system is not possible in terms 
of cost and/or practicality and provide details of the responsibility and means of 
operation and management of the system for its lifetime to ensure the risk to the 
environment is low.” 

5.96. This mirrors Government advice in its Planning Practice Guidance relating to 
“Water supply, wastewater and water quality”.  

5.97. Holme House Farm is not in a sewered area, meaning that, in principle, a package 
treatment plant is the next best option. Neither Natural England nor the 
Environment Agency has raised an objection to this aspect of the proposals, 
although both have highlighted the fact that any discharge will either need a permit 
issued by the Environment Agency under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 
2010, or will need to be registered as an exempt activity. This is in addition to the 
need for planning permission.  

Landscape impact 
5.98. Policy CS8.2 (Protection and enhancement of landscape and settlement character) 

is clear that development proposals should demonstrate that their location, scale, 
design and materials will protect, conserve and, where possible, enhance (amongst 
other things) the special qualities and local distinctiveness of the area, distinctive 
settlement character and the setting of, and views into and from the National Parks. 
The policy also expects proposals to be informed by, and be sympathetic to, the 
distinctive character landscape types identified in a range of resources, including 
the Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit. 

5.99. Core Strategy policy CS8.10 (Design) expects the siting, design, scale and 
materials of all development to be of a character which maintains or enhances the 
quality of the landscape or townscape and, where appropriate, should be in keeping 
with local vernacular tradition.  

5.100. Subject to other policies in the development plan, DMDPD Policy DM1 (General 

Page 63



 

32 

Requirements for all development) states that development will be acceptable 
provided, amongst other things, it: (1) responds appropriately to the proposal site’s 
locational context, local and settlement character and distinctiveness; (2) ensures 
the protection and enhancement of the District’s natural, built and historic 
environment qualities and its distinctive landscapes and townscapes, including their 
public visual amenities through good design; and (3) ensures the protection, 
conservation and enhancement of the special qualities and settings of the Lake 
District National Park, including views into and out of  this protected designated 
landscape, by supporting proposals only where it is demonstrated through a 
proportionate landscape assessment there would be no adverse effect upon their 
landscape character and visual amenity. 

5.101. Policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) supports development 
provided certain design principles are met. These include ensuring that 
development: (1) responds appropriately to local and settlement character and 
reinforces and promotes local distinctiveness; and (2) responds appropriately to 
local context, landscape and built and natural environment setting. It also states 
that “[new] development should deliver variety, diversity and interest by […] 
avoiding bland monotonous forms of development that promote little interest and 
variety”. 

5.102. At close quarters the core of the application site has a rundown appearance, 
comprising a collection of largely redundant agricultural, industrial and residential 
structures in various states of dilapidation. When viewed at greater distance the site 
is generally very well screened. Although located within open countryside the site 
sits in the bottom of the valley of the River Sprint and is largely obscured in longer 
views by high ground to the north, west and east. The site is also very well 
vegetated, and the existing structures have decayed and become overgrown to a 
point where they have started to blend into the landscape. The boundary of the 
Lake District National Park lies only 1km to the north, but intervening twists in the 
river valley combined with some dense planting mean that, if visible at all from this 
direction, the site will be an insignificant visual element.  

5.103. The aspect from the south is more open, particularly in winter when the lack of 
leaves on the trees exposes some of the existing structures to the view from Garth 
Row Lane. But the visual impact from this angle remains negligible. Public footpath 
570030 passes close to the site on rising ground to the east, but views are 
obscured by intervening dense planting shown within the “blue land” on the 
submitted location plan; land not within the application site, but still owned by the 
applicants.  

5.104. Given this analysis it is considered that redeveloping the site with the quantity of 
new floorspace discussed earlier can, with care, be accommodated in a manner 
that, at worst, should have no greater landscape impact than currently exists and, at 
best, has the potential to remove even the limited existing harm. This remains true 

Page 64



 

33 

even given the necessity to raise finished floor levels to 79.1m AOD to reduce flood 
risk.  

5.105. Although this application is submitted in outline with all matters reserved, it is 
nevertheless supported by a number of illustrative drawings which show a common 
configuration for the proposed residential plots. This configuration is rooted in a 
private restrictive covenant, and is most clearly illustrated on drawing (PP) 03 
Revision D. Private covenants carry no weight in the planning process, but drawing 
(PP) 03 Revision D is useful because it foretells the layout that will likely be 
submitted for approval as a reserved matter should this outline planning permission 
be granted. And it is a layout that has considerable planning merit, clustering the 
proposed dwellings together in the central part of the site, which benefits most from 
established screening. It is therefore recommended that this drawing is used as the 
basis for defining broadly acceptable locations for the replacement dwellings and 
shared-use buildings. It is also recommended that any landscaping strategy should 
include the retention and reinforcement of the established planting on the eastern 
boundary adjoining footpath 570030.  

Access and parking 
5.106. Core Strategy policy CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) expects 

“Development will be designed to reduce the need to travel and to maximise the 
use of sustainable forms of transport appropriate to its particular location”.  

5.107. Policy CS10.2 establishes a number of other criteria aimed at ensuring that new 
development: (1) provides for safe and convenient access on foot, cycle, public and 
private transport; (2) is capable of being served by safe access to the highway 
network without detriment to the amenity or character of the locality; (3) can be 
accommodated by the existing road network without detriment to the amenity or 
character of the surrounding area; and (4) incorporates parking standards that are 
in accordance with any adopted local policy and guidance. 

5.108. DMDPD policy DM9 (Parking Provision), new and loss of car parks) expects all 
developments to have acceptable levels of car, motorcycle and bicycle parking 
having regard to relevant appropriate guidance, which is currently provided in the 
Cumbria Development Design Guide . 

5.109. The application site is in a remote location, with limited options to use sustainable 
forms of transport. Nevertheless, for the reasons discussed earlier in this report, the 
established lawful uses on the site offer some justification for a limited amount of 
replacement residential development. The local highway authority has 
recommended two conditions requiring: (1) hard surfacing of the first 10 metres of 
the access drive; and (2) protecting the existing visibility splays.  

5.110. Hard surfacing more of the access drive than is essential would be an unfortunate 
move; it would be at odds with the prevailing character of the area. Furthermore, 
the applicants have confirmed that a significant section of the 

Page 65



 

34 

access is already adopted highway. Given that traffic movements will be no greater 
than might be expected from the established mix-uses, and potentially significantly 
less, there would seem to be little planning justification for insisting on additional 
hard surfacing. The recommended condition in respect of visibility splays appears 
to be a standard one. But it would be ineffective in this case because the applicants 
do not control sufficient land either side of the junction with Garth Row Lane. 

Public rights of way 
5.111. The two public rights of way that cross the existing access to the site are not 

directly affected by the proposals. The local highway authority has recommended 
the imposition of an informative on any consent reminding developers of their 
obligations in this regard.  

Biodiversity 
5.112. The strategic objectives of the Core Strategy include: 

“Ensuring that new development safeguards and enhances the natural and built 
environment, [and] 

“[Increasing] the resilience of ecosystem services (the processes by which the 
environment produces resources utilised by humans) by protecting against harm to 
biodiversity and taking opportunities to enhance and create ecologically-diverse 
habitats in all locations.” 

International designations 
5.113. Core Strategy policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) includes a statement 

that: 

“Development proposals that would have a direct or indirect adverse effect on 
nationally, subregional, regional and local designated sites and non-protected sites 
that are considered to have geological and biodiversity value, will not be permitted 
unless: 

• They cannot be located on alternative sites that would cause less or no harm; 

• The benefits of the development clearly outweigh the impacts on the features of 
the site and the wider network of natural habitats; and 

• Prevention, mitigation and compensation measures are provided.” 

5.114. The River Sprint, located to the west of the proposed development, is designated 
as part of the River Kent and Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
and River Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC). The SAC is defined as 
“European Site” for purposes of The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (“the 2017 Regulations”).  

Page 66



 

35 

5.115. South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) is termed a “competent authority” for the 
purposes of the 2017 Regulations, meaning that in situations where it intends to 
permit a project with potential effects on a “European Site”, either alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects, further consideration of those effects is 
necessary. This requires a Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA). 

5.116. In this case the applicants have commissioned ecologists to prepare a “Shadow 
Habitat Regulations Assessment7”, which they are inviting SLDC to adopt in its role 
as competent authority, thereby fulfilling the requirements of the 2017 Regulations. 
This is common practice; Members may recall that the Planning Committee has 
recently adopted Shadow HRAs in resolving to grant planning permission for the 
refurbishment of the Lido in Grange-over-Sands and, also in Grange, 
redevelopment of the Age Concern premises on Lindale Road. 

5.117. The Shadow HRA is published in full online, but, in summary, it concludes that “with 
the appropriate mitigation in place and the production of a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), which will be agreed as part of a formal 
planning condition, that no significant impact on the River Kent SAC [and by 
extension the SSSI] is anticipated as a result of the proposed development.” 
Natural England concurs with this conclusion and has suggested some provisions 
to be included within the CEMP. 

5.118. Subject to a planning condition requiring a CEMP it is recommended that the 
applicant’s Shadow HRA is adopted as meeting the local planning authority’s 
requirements under the 2017 Regulations in this case.  

Protected species 
5.119. Policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) includes a statement that: 

“All development proposals should: 

• Protect, enhance and restore the biodiversity and geodiversity value of land and 
buildings; 

• Minimise fragmentation and maximise opportunities for restoration, 
enhancement and connection of natural habitats (including links to habitats 
outside South Lakeland); and 

• Incorporate beneficial biodiversity and geodiversity conservation features, 
including features that will help wildlife to adapt to climate change where 
appropriate. 

                                            
7 Shadow Habitat Regulations Assessment, Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, Report Ref. JN00473/D01, 
Environmental Solutions Ltd., June 2020 

Page 67



 

36 

Proposals should particularly seek to contribute towards the UK priority habitats and 
species in South Lakeland, and any additional Cumbria Biodiversity Action Plan 
species.” 

5.120. Given the potential of the buildings on the site to contain bats and owls the 
applicants have commissioned surveys for both species8,9. The owl survey has 
come back negative, but the bat survey confirms that soprano pipistrelles are 
roosting on the site, and that these roosts will be lost through the process of 
demolition. It will therefore be necessary for the developer to obtain a derogation 
licence from Natural England before works commence, to allow bats and their 
roosts to be impacted by works lawfully. The bat survey also recommends 
installation of three suitable bat boxes in appropriate, undisturbed locations, on 
large trees before works commence, for bats to be relocated to should they be 
found during works. 

5.121. A condition is recommended to ensure that the conclusions and recommendations 
of the bat survey are adhered to during the course of any demolition.  

Net biodiversity gain  
5.122. DMDPD policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 

Landscaping) expects all development proposals to result in environmental net 
gains for biodiversity, unless it can be demonstrated that this is not possible. The 
policy reflects the government’s position in paragraph 170 of the NPPF. In this case 
Natrual England has requested that we “also seek at least a 10% biodiversity net 
gain for this proposal”. Given that this application has been submitted in outline it is 
recommended that this issue is addressed by a condition. 

6.0 Conclusion 
6.1. Holme House Farm is an isolated collection of dwellings and former agricultural and 

industrial buildings situated approximately 4km north of Kendal, and 2km east of 
Burneside.  

6.2. This planning application has been made in outline with all matters reserved. It 
proposes the demolition of all of the existing structures on the site and their 
replacement with five dwellings, together with one or more “shared use buildings”.  

6.3. Holme House Farm is in the open countryside for the purposes of applying current 
development plan policy. It is therefore in a location where new residential 
development is generally regarded as unsustainable. The Council’s development 

                                            
8 Bat Update Survey Letter Report, Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, Kendal, Lucy Gibson Consulting, 27 
May 2020 
9 Barn Owl Survey Letter Report – Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, Cumbria, Lucy Gibson Consulting, 01 
February 2021 

Page 68



 

37 

plan has no specific policy relating to replacement dwellings in the open 
countryside. Nevertheless, established residential use can be a material 
consideration when assessing whether or not the principle of new housing is 
acceptable in locations where, as at Holme House Farm, it would otherwise be in 
conflict with the District’s development strategy. In this case the principle of five 
replacement dwellings is judged acceptable, subject to a restriction on the size of 
the replacements to ensure that the site becomes no more unsustainable than it 
currently is. The principle of the proposed “shared-use buildings” as replacements 
for the range of redundant agricultural and industrial buildings on the site is also 
judged acceptable. Unresolved details can be determined by consideration of 
reserved matters in the usual manner.  

6.4. The Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning shows the majority of the site to 
be within Flood Zone 3a, fringed by areas of Flood Zone 2. This means that the 
majority of the site has a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability of river flooding – 
placing it at high risk. In different circumstances this would require the application of 
the Sequential Test, to establish whether the proposed dwellings could be relocated 
to an area at lower flood risk. But, in this case, modelling in the applicant’s FRA has 
persuaded the Environment Agency that, for practical purposes, the site can be 
regarded as being within Flood Zone 1, and that with a restriction on floor levels the 
development is not at risk of flooding. Nor does it increase the risk of flooding 
elsewhere. Consequently, the Environment Agency has not objected to the 
proposal. 

6.5. A number of conditions are recommended to address unresolved issues, including: 
(1) surface water drainage; (2) foul drainage; (3) safeguarding of protected species; 
and (4) achieving a net gain in biodiversity.  

7.0 Recommendation 
7.1. The application is recommended for approval subject to: 

a) adoption by the Planning Committee of the “Shadow Habitat Regulations 
Assessment, Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, Report Ref. JN00473/D01, 
produced by Environmental Solutions Ltd. and dated June 2020” to meet the 
Council’s responsibilities as a competent authority in accordance with The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended by The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 
2019); and 

b) the following conditions: 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans: 

• Location Plan, PP (11) 

Page 69



 

38 

• New Build Zones, (PP) 03 Rev D; 

All other submitted plans have been treated as illustrative only. 

REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition (2) “Reserved matters” in the context of this application means: (1) 
access; (2) layout of the entire site (including an overall landscaping 
strategy); and details of the (3) appearance, (4) scale and (5) 
landscaping of each individual dwelling or shared-use building 
hereby approved. The landscaping associated with each individual 
dwelling or shared-use building means detailed proposals 
consistent with the overall landscaping strategy.  

REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition (3) The development to which this permission relates must be begun 
not later than whichever is the later of the following dates: 

a) FIVE YEARS from the date of this permission; or 

b) the expiration of TWO YEARS from the final approval of: (1) the 
access to, and layout of, the entire site (including an overall 
landscaping strategy); and (2) the appearance, scale and 
landscaping of at least one of the five dwellings hereby 
approved  

Application for the approval of the reserved matters referred to in b) 
must be made not later than THREE years from the date of this 
permission.  

REASON:  To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

Condition (4) No development of any individual dwelling or shared-use building 
shall commence until the reserved matters relating to that individual 
dwelling or shared-use building have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority.  

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development on site.  

Condition (5) The gross internal floorspace of each of the five dwellings hereby 
approved, together with the cumulative footprints of any other 
structures erected as permitted development within the curtilage of 
each dwelling for purposes incidental to the enjoyment of the 
dwellinghouse pursuant to The Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended), or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order, shall 
not exceed 140 sq. m. The curtilage of any of the five dwellings 

Page 70



 

39 

hereby approved must lie within the “Blue Zone” or “Red Zone” on 
drawing (PP) 03 Rev D.   

REASON:  To ensure that the replacement dwellings do not exceed a size that 
would compromise the objectives of policy CS1.2 (The 
Development Strategy) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

Condition (6) The shared-use building(s) hereby approved must lie within the 
“White Zone”, “Red Zone” or “Blue Zone” on drawing (PP) 03 Rev D 
and shall be limited to a cumulative footprint not exceeding 480 sq. 
m. Use of the shared-use buildings must be restricted to: (1) shared 
incidental residential uses reasonably necessary to support any co-
housing objectives for all five dwellings hereby approved; and/or (2) 
shared space for agricultural storage, production and related 
activities associated with the farming and general management of 
the land contained within the red and blue lines on drawing (PP) 11.  

REASON:  To ensure that: (1) any co-housing objectives are adequately 
supported; and (2) the space dedicated to individual dwellings does 
not exceed a size that would compromise the objectives of policy 
CS1.2 (The Development Strategy) of the South Lakeland Core 
Strategy. 

Landscaping 

Condition (7) The overall landscaping strategy required by condition 2 shall 
include: (1) provision for the retention and enhancement of the 
existing tree belt located between the eastern boundary of the 
application site (but still within the blue line on drawing PP (11)) and 
public footpath number 570030; and (2) a maintenance strategy for 
the landscaping of all the land within the red and blue lines on 
drawing (PP) 11 for the lifetime of the development. Any further 
details of landscaping submitted in compliance with condition 2 
must accord with the overall landscaping strategy and, thereafter, 
must be maintained in accordance with the agreed maintenance 
strategy. 

REASON:  To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in accordance 
with policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees 
and Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition (8) The development of any individual dwelling or shared-use building 
shall proceed in accordance with an Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and an Arboricultural Method Statement that shall first 
have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority as part of the reserved matters application for 

Page 71



 

40 

that individual dwelling or shared-use building. The Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment must assess the potential impact on any of the 
47 individual trees and 8 groups of trees identified in the “Tree 
Locations & Constraints” information submitted with this application. 
Any trees identified for retention must be included in the details of 
landscaping for that individual dwelling or shared-use building 
required by condition 2 and must be protected during the course of 
development in accordance with the agreed Arboricultural Method 
Statement.  

REASON:  To protect existing trees in accordance with policy DM4 (Green and 
Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the 
South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development 
Plan Document. 

Accessible and adaptable homes 

Condition (9) The dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to meet the 
Building Regulations M4(2) standards for accessible and adaptable 
homes. 

REASON:  To comply with policy DM11 (Accessible and Adaptable Homes) of 
the South Lakeland Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

Broadband 

Condition (10) None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied until 
connected to the necessary infrastructure to enable access to high 
speed (superfast) broadband, unless this is unfeasible in the terms 
set out in policy DM8 (High Speed Broadband for New 
Developments) of the South Lakeland Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 

REASON:  To comply with policy DM8 (High Speed Broadband for New 
Developments) of the South Lakeland Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 

Sustainable construction  

Condition (11) Each of the dwellings and shared-use buildings shall be 
constructed in accordance with a specification produced to 
accommodate as many of the provisions within the “List of 
Measures that support and enhance habitat creation, urban 
greening and respond to the effects of climate change” contained in 
Appendix 1 of the Development Management Policies Development 
Plan Document as is reasonably practicable in the circumstances. 
No development shall commence until the scheme has been 

Page 72



 

41 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The scheme can be submitted as part of a relevant 
reserved matters application as required by condition 2.  

REASON:  To incorporate measures that support and enhance habitat creation 
and urban greening ensuring that provision reflects the local 
biodiversity evidence base and reduces the factors contributing to, 
and responds to the effects of climate change, in accordance with 
policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) of the 
South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development 
Plan Document. 

Land contamination  

Condition (12) No individual dwelling or shared-use building shall be first occupied 
until: (1) gas protection measures for that dwelling/building together 
with a capping system for the garden and other soft landscaping 
areas within the curtilage of any dwelling, have been installed in 
accordance with a scheme that shall first have been submitted, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority; and (2) a 
validation report and statement/certificate from an appropriately 
qualified person detailing any contamination identified during the 
construction of that dwelling/building and any remediation 
undertaken (including material removed in the clearance of the site) 
has also been submitted, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. The scheme for gas protection and, where 
relevant, the capping system can be submitted as part of a relevant 
reserved matters application as required by condition 2.  

REASON:  To safeguard human and environmental health in accordance with 
policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and 
Water Quality) of the South Lakeland Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 

Flood risk  

Condition (13) The finished ground floor levels of the dwellings and shared-use 
building(s) hereby approved shall be set no lower than 79.1m AOD. 

REASON:  To reduce the risk of flooding in accordance with policy CS8.8 
(Development and Flood Risk) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy 
and policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management and Sustainable 
Drainage Systems) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition (14) No development of any individual dwelling or shared-use building 
shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme for that 
individual dwelling or shared-use building has 

Page 73



 

42 

been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The scheme must accord with: (1) the principles 
established in the Level 2 Scoping Study Flood Risk & Drainage 
Impact Assessment produced by the Flood Risk Consultancy 
Limited (Report No: 2019-021 Revision B) dated 05 December 
2019; (2) the hierarchy of drainage options in the national planning 
practice guidance, achieving the most sustainable option that is 
practicable, evidenced by reference to an assessment of site 
conditions; and (3) the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015), or any equivalent 
replacement standards. The scheme must also include provisions 
for long-term management. The scheme can be submitted as part 
of a relevant reserved matters application as required by condition 
2.  Thereafter, no individual dwelling or shared-use building hereby 
approved shall be first occupied until it has been connected to the 
approved surface water drainage scheme. Thereafter, the surface 
water drainage scheme shall be maintained for the lifetime of the 
development.  

REASON:  To promote the use of a sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme in accordance with policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management 
and Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the South Lakeland 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Foul drainage 

Condition (15) No individual dwelling or shared-use building shall be first occupied 
until it has been connected to a system of foul drainage, the details 
of which shall first have been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the local planning authority. Foul and surface water must drain 
to separate systems. The required details can be submitted as part 
of a relevant reserved matters application as required by condition 
2. 

REASON:  To ensure that the development is supported by the essential 
necessary infrastructure in accordance with policy DM1 (General 
Requirements for all development) of the South Lakeland 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Biodiversity 

Condition (16) Any works of demolition must proceed in accordance with the 
conclusions and recommendations of the Bat Update Survey Letter 
Report, Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, Kendal, produced by 
Lucy Gibson Consulting and dated 27 May 2020.  

REASON:  To mitigate the potential impacts on protected species in 

Page 74



 

43 

accordance with policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the 
South Lakeland Core Strategy.  

Condition (17) No development shall commence until a scheme demonstrating 
that the development will achieve a minimum 10% biodiversity net 
gain, measured using the Defra Biodiversity Metric 2.0 (or such 
later version as may be promoted by Defra at the time that the 
required scheme is submitted), has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The required 
details can be submitted as part of the first reserved matters 
application submitted in compliance with condition 2. Thereafter, 
the development shall proceed in accordance with the approved 
scheme and the net gain shall be maintained for the lifetime of the 
development. 

REASON:  To meet the requirements of: (1) policy DM4 (Green and Blue 
Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the of the 
South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development 
Plan Document; (2) paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.; and (3) section 40 of the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act 2006. 

Condition (18) No development shall commence until a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) containing measures to 
mitigate the impacts of the approved development on protected 
species and the River Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. The CEMP must include the following: 

• A biosecurity protocol, including management measures to deal 
with invasive species during construction, if a reassessment of 
the site shows that invasive species are still present.  

• Details of an unfenced buffer zone for foraging otters extending 
back at least 10m from the eastern bank of the River Sprint.   

• Identification of areas for the storage of machinery, plant and 
materials during construction. These areas cannot be within the 
10m buffer zone referred to above.  

• Details of any temporary construction routes within the 10m 
buffer zone referred to above. These routes must be specified 
with a geotextile underlay and an ecologically neutral surface 
material. 

• Pollution prevention measures for the control of noise and dust 
and to ensure that no waste, including contaminated surface 
water runoff, generated by construction 

Page 75



 

44 

activities (including the storage or burning of waste) or the 
remediation of existing pollution (including the removal of 
asbestos or existing fuel tanks) makes its way directly or 
indirectly into the River Sprint.  

The required details can be submitted as part of the first reserved 
matters application submitted in compliance with condition 2.  

All construction work must proceed in accordance with the 
approved CEMP. In addition: 

• If it is essential for any excavations to be left open overnight 
then a means of escape should be provided with a plank 
situated at no more than forty five degrees within the 
excavation. 

• All lighting associated with the construction phase of the project 
must be directed away from the River Sprint and the associated 
woodland.  

REASON:  To mitigate the potential impacts on: (1) the River Kent and 
Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); (2) the River 
Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC); and (3) protected 
species, all in accordance with policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and 
geodiversity) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.  

Lighting 

Condition (19) No individual dwelling or shared-use building shall be first occupied 
until any external lighting required for that dwelling/building has 
been installed in accordance with a scheme that shall first have 
been submitted, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The scheme must include confirmation from a qualified 
ecologist that it has been designed to minimize harmful impacts on: 
(1) the River Kent and Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI); (2) the River Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC); and 
(3) protected species. The scheme can be submitted as part of a 
relevant reserved matters application as required by condition 2. 
Thereafter, any external lighting shall be maintained in accordance 
with the approved scheme.  

REASON:  To mitigate the potential impacts on: (1) the River Kent and 
Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); (2) the River 
Kent Special Area of Conservation (SAC); and (3) protected 
species, all in accordance with policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and 
geodiversity) of the South Lakeland Core Strategy.  

Construction hours 

Page 76



 

45 

Condition (20) Construction work shall be limited to daylight hours only and never 
on Bank Holidays nor otherwise outside the hours of 0800 – 1800 
Monday to Friday or 0900 – 1300 on Saturdays. 

REASON:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity and ecological interest 
of the existing area in accordance with: (1) policy CS8.4 
(Biodiversity and geodiversity) of the South Lakeland Core 
Strategy; and (2) policies DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure and 
Open Space) and DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination 
Impact, and Water Quality) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document.  

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



 

www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

Planning Application no. SL/2020/0364 
Cark Manor, Cark-in-Cartmel, Grange-
over-Sands 
  

Page 79

Item No.7

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


 

2 

Addendum Report 
The application went before Planning Committee on the 28th January 2021. Committee 
Members requested that the application be deferred for the following reasons: 

• Due to the potential amenity impact of the proposal on the residents of Dobbie Bank, 
alternative parking arrangements within the grounds of Cark Manor should be 
explored. 

The applicant responded to the Committees request in an email dated the 3rd February 
2021 stating that they do not intend to make any changes to the scheme and that they wish 
for the unchanged application to be put before Committee on the 25th February 2021. 

The agent has submitted an additional supporting statement on the 9th February 2021 (see 
below) addressing the location of the proposed car park, why they consider alternative 
locations unsuitable and the economic benefits of the proposal. 

The below report is that submitted to Members for the 28th January 2021 Committee with 
the addition of a lighting scheme condition (Condition 10). 

Page 80



 

3 

Agent’s Supporting Statement 
Following the deferral of planning application ref. SL/2020/0364 for ‘the change of use from 
residential dwelling (Class C3) to a mixed use of residential dwellings (Use Class C3) and 
holiday let (Sui Generis) and the formation of hard standing for car parking (part 
retrospective)’ at planning committee on 28th February 2021, the applicant has requested 
that we provide the following information in response to committee members reasons for 
deferral. 

Location of Car Park 

The proposed car parking is located along the eastern boundary of the site. This area is 
located on higher ground than the remaining lawned grounds surrounding the Grade II 
Listed manor. Following a high hedge complaint issued by South Lakeland Council, relating 
to the conifers along the eastern boundary, the applicant removed the conifer trees to 
alleviate any impacts of loss of light and amenity impacts to the residents at Dobbie Bank. 
The proposed car parking in this location provides a substantial visual improvement and the 
removal of the conifer trees has revealed an attractive stone wall between the car park and 
the neighbouring properties at Dobbie Bank. 

The proposed car park is located in close proximity to existing access points to be utilised, 
so as not to impact the wider grounds of the manor. The location also provides a screening 
from the listed building due to its location on slightly higher ground, with additional planting 
to screen the car park from views from the listed building. 

This is supported in the submitted Heritage Statement, which states in paragraph 4.7 that 
“With regards to the visual appearance, the use of grasscrete has dramatically reduced the 
potential view of the car park and the new hedge planting will further shield the views of the 
cars when the car park is in use. A notable visual improvement has been secured through 
the removal of the conifers and exposure of the attractive stone wall to the eastern 
boundary. The position of the car park means that it is visible to the left when approaching 
the manor down the entry drive, but otherwise it does not feature in significant views to or 
from the Manor nor any shared views with the Manor.” 

In terms of visual impact of the car park, from the properties at Dobbie Bank, Figure 2 below 
demonstrates that the car park will be screened by the stone wall which depicts the 
boundary between the proposed car park and the residential properties at Dobbie Bank. 
Due to the height of the existing stone wall, the car park would be screened from views from 
within the properties. 

Alternative locations 

As mentioned above, the proposed car park is located on higher ground than the wider 
grounds surrounding Cark Manor, thereby limiting impact on the listed building. The car 
park is between the two points of access from the road, reducing the need for additional 
construction works and is in an area where there are relatively fewer trees which would be 
affected by the proposal. Moreover, this part of the site is very well 

Page 81



 

4 

screened from the properties on Dobbie Bank by a high wall, which would reduce noise and 
visual impacts (evidenced by the cross-section above). Other locations on the perimeter of 
the site would involve greater impacts on the listed building, much more substantial tree 
loss and greater complexities in creating access than the current proposal, without any 
obvious justification. 

Accordingly, it is not considered that there are any more suitable locations for the 
car parking. 

Somewhat ironically the boundary treatment in this area was much taller but, as mentioned 
above, the applicant was requested to reduce the height of the conifers in this location 
following a High Hedge complaint. The present proposals seek to balance the desires of the 
residents to ensure light within their gardens and no material loss of amenity, with the 
applicant’s reasonable expectations to be able to use his property in a meaningful and 
lawful fashion. 

It is also our client’s position that the works to create the car parking is lawful in any event. 
Even if the Council were to dispute this position, it remains clear that some extent of car 
parking on this boundary is permitted without need for planning consent, on the basis of the 
reasonable use of the property as a private dwelling. Accordingly, it is not clear that a 
decision to refuse the application based on the location of the car park would result in the 
removal of the car parking. 

Parking Provision 

The car park provides 16no. parking spaces, which is intended to provide adequate space 
to deal with the fact that the accommodation can provide for up to 20 people. However, 
occupancy is likely to consist of a large group or families and the property will not be let on 
a room-by-room basis, as would be the case for a normal hotel. Accordingly, the 
expectation is that groups will travel together to the site in a small number of vehicles or 
more likely will be collected from airport / railway station by the operators and chauffeur 
driven to the site. As such it is not expected that the car park will be used other than as an 
overspill or for small number of vehicles which are parked up for several days at a time. The 
proposal seeks to balance the need to ensure that there is adequate provision to avoid cars 
parking off-site with the reality that it is not likely to be heavily used. 

It is considered that the proposal at hand provides sufficient level of parking for the 
proposed scheme and does so in a manner which reduces harm and impact. This is 
consistent with Policy DM9 of the Development Management Plan DPD, which details that 
all development should have acceptable levels of parking. County Highways as Highways 
Authority have considered the provision of parking to be acceptable and the proposed 
development is considered to comply with Policy DM9 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD. 

As has previously been indicated, the car park element of the scheme was included within 
the submission of this application for clarity, as the applicant remains of the view that car 
parking in this area would constitute permitted development in association with the 
dwellinghouse. As described in the planning statement, the car park is 

Page 82



 

5 

being used in association with the existing residential dwelling, notwithstanding this 
application. In terms of the quantity of car parking spaces, as described in the planning 
statement, given the size of the house, such works are proportionate to the use of the 
property as a residential dwelling and are required for a purpose incidental to its residential 
use. Furthermore, it is considered feasible that the occupation of the dwellinghouse could 
result in a need for parking of the same scale as that proposed, and therefore that this 
proposal falls in line with the notable case of Emin v SSE [1989] which found that 
‘incidental’ meant reasonably required for the purposes of a dwellinghouse. This car park is 
already utilised by the owner, family and guests at present and hence a refusal of the 
planning application would not see the removal of the car park. 

Economic Benefits 

The proposal will ensure the long-term viability of a listed building, through the significant 
financial investment to ensure the property will provide a high-quality accommodation for 
visitors to the area. The proposed development would result in new tourism accommodation 
adjoining a Local Service Centre. It is considered likely that the guests of the 
accommodation would utilise the local services within Cark or neighbouring Flookburgh 
which are within walking distance of the proposed site, which would provide a significant 
investment to the local economy. Also, the applicants would continue to use local services / 
tradespeople etc. to service the property. This is supported in both local and national policy, 
which emphasises the need to grow the local economy in a sustainable way, supporting the 
vitality and viability of service centres. Significant weight should therefore be placed on the 
need to support economic growth and productivity. 

Cumbria Visitor Survey 2018, details that on average overseas visitors spent an average of 
£810.76 per party per trip, compared to UK visitors who spend £659.15 per party per trip, 
with Cumbria’s Tourism Managing Director stating that “Cumbria is an area where the 
visitor economy has particular significance to the local economy and communities. Now with 
two UNESCO World Heritage Sites we have a game changer for the county as a whole and 
our ambition is to sustainably grow the value of tourism with specific focus on converting 
day visitors to staying visitors and delivering the ‘attract and disperse principle’. We also 
want to grow the visitor economy outside of the summer months, and to increase 
international visitor stay and spend.” 

Even using such average figures, this scheme could generate tens of thousands of pounds 
of local spend per annum. However, given the nature of the scale and type of 
accommodation proposed, it is likely to generate considerably higher levels of economic 
impact than those averages identified in the visitor survey. Indeed, it is likely that over its 
lifetime, accommodation of this type will create direct investment and related spend running 
into millions of pounds. This will help to sustain and support the local economy of this part 
of south Cumbria, through direct and indirect employment and investment. 

Unfortunately, due to the ongoing pandemic, it is inevitable that more businesses will be 
impacted financially, particularly those in the hospitality sector, and this is having a 
detrimental impact on the tourism industry. As discussed above, the applicant is providing a 
significant investment to provide a high-quality accommodation facility, 

Page 83



 

6 

which will, in turn significantly benefit the local economy. A decision to delay or refuse this 
application will serve only to compound these issues, and may result in this scheme never 
being delivered, whereas support for the application offers the opportunity for the Council to 
embrace the applicant’s efforts. 

A national survey, which has been completed partly by Cumbria Tourism, demonstrates that 
over the next 12 months, around 50% of participants said they expect to take more day trips 
and overnight stays in the UK, with a further 54% are expecting to take fewer trips abroad, 
switching to a domestic break instead, of which 70% stated that they would feel safe in 
hotels, guesthouses and B&B accommodation, as well as at visitor attractions with both 
indoor and outdoor facilities. This provides further evidence that the proposal at hand will 
result in an important contribution to the economy, to attract visitors to the local area and 
help the area to recover from the impacts of the pandemic.  

Page 84



 

7 

 

Contents 

Planning Application no. SL/2020/0364................................................................................. 1 

Cark Manor, Cark-in-Cartmel, Grange-over-Sands ............................................................... 1 

Addendum Report ................................................................................................................. 2 

Agent’s Supporting Statement ............................................................................................... 3 

Summary ............................................................................................................................... 9 

Recommendation .................................................................................................................. 9 

1.0 Description and proposal ................................................................................................ 9 

Site Description ............................................................................................................... 9 

Proposal ........................................................................................................................ 10 

2.0 Consultations ................................................................................................................ 10 

Lower Holker Parish Council ......................................................................................... 10 

Cumbria County Council Highways and LLFA .............................................................. 12 

Council Tree Officer ...................................................................................................... 12 

Natural England ............................................................................................................ 12 

Conservation Officer ..................................................................................................... 13 

Public Responses ......................................................................................................... 13 

3.0 Relevant planning history .............................................................................................. 13 

4.0 Relevant planning policies ............................................................................................ 14 

National Planning Policy Framework ............................................................................ 14 

Local Development Policies .......................................................................................... 14 

5.0 Assessment .................................................................................................................. 15 

Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy ........................................................... 15 

Impact on the Local Economy ....................................................................................... 18 

Heritage Impact............................................................................................................. 19 

Highways Impacts ......................................................................................................... 20 

Amenity ......................................................................................................................... 21 

Bio Diversity .................................................................................................................. 22 

Planning Balance and Conclusions............................................................................... 23 

6.0 Recommendation .......................................................................................................... 24 

 

Page 85



 

8 

  

Page 86



 

9 

Summary 
SL/2020/0364 

PARISH: Lower Holker   

Cark Manor, Cark-in-Cartmel, Grange-Over-Sands LA11 7PG 

PROPOSAL: Change of use from residential dwelling (Use Class C3) to a mixed use of 
residential dwelling (Use Class C3) and holiday let (Sui Generis) and the formation of hard 
standing for car parking (part retrospective) 

APPLICANT: Tangerine Holdings 

Grid Ref: E: 336044 N: 476685 

Committee date: 28th January 2021 

Case Officer: Nic Unwin 

The proposal seeks full planning permission for the change of use of Cark Manor from a 
residential dwelling to a mixed use residential dwelling and holiday let. The application 
would also involve the construction of a parking area (retrospective) and access track to an 
existing access to the south. 

The proposed site is located outside of, but adjoining the development boundary of Cark-in-
Cartmel. The proposed site forms part of the grounds of the Grade II listed Cark Manor. 

The current application has been referred to committee as the application has been ‘called 
in’ by Councillor Gardner. 

Recommendation 
The recommendation is to approve the application subject to conditions set out at the foot of 
the report. 

1.0 Description and proposal 

Site Description 
1.1. The proposed site is formed of the Grade II listed Cark Manor and associated 

grounds.  

1.2. The proposed site currently has two access points. The primary access point is to 
the east, adjacent to the south of the Grade II listed Cark Manor Cottage (former 
gate house) onto Station Road (B5278 103). The second access is to the south 
onto Sunny Bank Road (U5161 102), this access comprises an entrance onto the 
road but has no formal access track into the site. 

Page 87



 

10 

1.3. Although the proposed parking area is retrospective, the area previously formed a 
lawned area elevated from the grounds to the west. The grounds primarily slope 
downwards from north to south. 

1.4. The existing lawful use of Cark manor is as a dwelling (Use Class C3). 

Proposal 
1.5. The proposal seeks full planning permission for the change of use from dwelling 

(Use Class C3) to mixed use dwelling and holiday let (Sui Generis). The application 
additionally involves the construction of a car park and access track to the existing 
access onto Sunny Bank Road. 

1.6. The proposal will not require any internal or external alterations or division of the 
existing Cark Manor, with the entire property used as a holiday let when not in use 
as a dwelling by the applicant. The initial application description was for a hotel (C1) 
however this was changed to holiday let (Sui Generis) upon discussions with the 
agent who concurred that this was a more accurate description of the proposed 
use. 

1.7. The proposed car park is located within the eastern section of the existing grounds 
adjoining the eastern site boundary with Dobbie Bank, a small development of 7 
terraced dwellings. The boundary between the proposed site and Dobbie Bank 
comprises a tall natural stone wall. 

1.8. The proposed parking extends between the existing access track to the north (from 
Station Road to Cark Manor) and the southern boundary of the site with Sunny 
Bank Road bordered by mature trees. The proposed parking area is at a higher 
elevation than the grounds to the west with a slope down to them. The parking area 
has already been constructed and comprises a rubber grass matting to allow the 
grass to grow through it with a capacity of approximately 16 parking spaces. A 
beech hedge has been planted adjacent to the western boundary of the car park 
with a leylandii hedge planted at the bottom of the slope to the west. 

1.9. The proposal will additionally involve the construction of an access track connecting 
the proposed parking area to the existing access onto Sunny Bank Road to the 
south. The proposed access will be constructed of rubber grass matting (to match 
the car park) and will have two rows of beach hedging planted along its western 
boundary. 

2.0 Consultations 

Lower Holker Parish Council  
2.1. Lower Holker Parish Council object to the proposal for the following reasons: 

Page 88



 

11 

• The proposed new exit is onto a narrow lane (Dobbie Bank) on a 90 degree 
bend. 

• There are inadequate visibility splays in both directions for vehicles leaving 
the property and vehicles passing the exit. 

• It is not possible for 2 vehicles to pass on this narrow lane. 

• Vehicles turning left from the exit would need to exit onto the B5278 on a 
steep incline with inadequate visibility splays in both directions. 

• Vehicles going straight ahead from the exit would need to take the narrow 
route alongside the Engine Inn and emerge by and opposite bus stops onto 
the B5278. 

• There is no footpath on Dobbie Bank and due to the narrowness of the lane 
more vehicles would increase the risk to pedestrians using the road. 

• There is a pedestrian route from Cark Railway station to Holker Hall which 
passes south of Sunny Bank and along one of the potential exit roads to the 
B5278. 

• A residential property is usually only used by a limited number of regular 
users, who are aware of the neighbours and therefore sensitive to the impact 
their activities would have on their neighbours. A hotel is by its nature used 
by a large variety of users who would not be aware of the potential noise 
impact on the local area. The property grounds have been recently re-
landscaped indicating a planned increased usage of the outside area. The 
property grounds are surrounded on 2 sides by dwellings. The grounds 
adjoin 7 dwellings at Dobbie Bank and there are numerous dwellings within 
50 metres of the grounds including Sunny Bank (terrace), Winder View, The 
Dell, Low Row (terrace), Cark House apartments (Listed building), Cark 
House cottage, and dwellings at Cark Farm. The increased traffic (up to 16 
additional vehicles as indicated on the plans) plus the activities of the guests 
whilst using the grounds would considerably increase the noise levels for 
surrounding residents. 

• The grounds overlook a number of dwellings including Cark House, The Dell, 
Cark House Cottages and Cark Farm. Increased use of these grounds would 
reduce the opportunity for the quiet enjoyment by the occupants of these 
dwellings. 

• The location of the proposed (but already constructed) car park would result 
in vehicles being driven down towards the dwellings of Cark House. The 
Dell, Cark House Cottages and Cark Farm and whilst turning their lights 
would also be directed towards the residents of Dobbie Bank. They could be 
at any time of the day or night, so would be a regular disturbance. 

Page 89



 

12 

• Cark Manor and the Gatehouse are both listed buildings and Cark House 
which faces Cark Manor is also a listed building. 

Cumbria County Council Highways and LLFA  
2.2. Having assessed the site specifics of the revised access and local road I am 

satisfied that the sharp bends and overall character of the road will naturally curb  
the speed to well below the 30mph speed limit. However the foliage and 
overhanging vegetation will need to be trimmed back as necessary to maintain this 
splay.  

2.3. The overall impact of additional traffic associated with the car park using the 
existing gated access is judged not to present a material impact on highway 
conditions. It may cause some local and minor inconvenience since this is a fairly 
narrow and lightly trafficked road and passing can be awkward but this would not be 
classified as a serious impact on traffic levels nor road safety and not untypical in 
this area. I note the tight 90 degree bend opposite the proposed access and this 
may cause problems for larger vehicles, but since this gate will be used as an exit 
only, none of the Manor traffic will be driving around this corner. Swept path 
diagrams satisfactorily demonstrate that the vehicles can exit onto the highway. 

2.4. I have assessed the additional access in the context of the additional traffic (mainly 
cars) utilizing the proposed car park. This does not relate to the existing 
arrangements for servicing the manor. 

2.5. The Highway Authority has no objection to the proposal but recommends 
appropriate conditions are attached to any consent.   

Council Tree Officer  
2.6. The planting looks good, and I see from the submitted Arboricultural report that the 

decayed sycamores have been highlighted to the land owner. The future removal of 
these trees will not impact the planning permission or any associated replanting 
conditions as their removal is not connected to the development work. 

2.7. The access route into the site from the south has been in place for a number of 
years and will not have a significant impact upon G3 and T3 as they are proposed 
for removal. The content of the AIA is acceptable to ensure protection of retained 
trees on the site. 

Natural England  
2.8. No objections. 

Page 90



 

13 

Conservation Officer  
2.9. The Conservation Officer raised no objections to the proposed change of use, 

parking area or access track, however they did raise concerns regarding the 
formality of the proposed planting and this impact on the setting of the listed 
building. 

Public Responses 
2.10. The following material planning matters were raised by public representation: 

• Loss of privacy due to the intensification of use of the premises. 

• Noise generated from proposed parking bays and from the intensification of 
use of the premises. 

• Loss of light from proposed planting. 

• Light pollution (cause of which unspecified). 

• Highways safety impacts from the intensification of vehicle movements. 

3.0 Relevant planning history 
3.1. There are a number of planning applications relating to both the northbound and 

southbound service stations, which straddle the A591. The notable ones are as 
follows:  

• SL/2005/0670 – Demolition of existing buildings and erection of utility room and 
porch and external staircase to basement. Full Approval. 

• SL/2005/0671 – Demolition of existing buildings and erection of utility room and 
porch, external staircase to basement and internal alterations. Listed Building 
Refusal. 

• SL/2006/0656 – Internal and external alterations and rear extension. Listed Building 
Approval. 

• SL/2007/0007- Replacement garage, replacement retaining wall, new steps to patio 
and new steps to croquet lawn. Full Approval. 

• SL/2007/0064 – Extension of wall adjacent to driveway. Full Approval. 

• SL/2007/0338 – Siting of six Victorian style street lamps. Full Approval. 

• SL/2007/0710 – Repairs to retaining wall, new dwarf wall, steps and access gates. 
Full Approval. 

Page 91



 

14 

• SL/2007/0711 – Repairs to retaining wall, new dwarf wall, steps and access gates. 
Listed Building Approval. 

• SL/2008/0014 – Installation of low level lighting to existing retaining wall steps. Full 
Approval. 

• SL/2008/0185 – Alterations to basement including windows and doors. Listed 
Building Approval. 

• SL/2008/0194 – Alterations to the basement. Listed Building Approval. 

• SL/2008/0833 – Installation of flood lighting to exterior of building. Full Approval. 

• SL/2008/0834 – Installation of flood lighting to exterior of building. Listed Building 
Approval. 

• SL/2008/0837 – Internal alterations to form en-suite bathroom. Listed Building 
Approval. 

• SL/2009/0540 – Internal alterations to create en-suite bathroom. Listed Building 
Approval. 

• SL/2008/0604 – Erection of children’s play equipment. Full Approval. 

• SL/2018/0881 – Lawful Development Certificate for the formation of hard standing for 
car parking. Live. 

• SL/2017/0947 – High Hedge Complaint. High hedge removal notice issued. 

3.2. Reference to some of the applications will be made later in the report 

4.0 Relevant planning policies 

National Planning Policy Framework  
Chapter 2, Achieving sustainable development 

Chapter 9 Promoting sustainable transport 

Chapter 12 Achieving well designed places 

Chapter 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

Local Development Policies 

South Lakeland Core Strategy Policies (CS) 
CS1.1 Sustainable development principles 

CS1.2 The development strategy 

Page 92



 

15 

CS7.4 Rural Economy 

CS8.6 Historic Environment 

CS8.10 Design 

CS10.2 Transport impact of new development 

LA1.1 Development boundaries  

South Lakeland Development Management Development Plan 
Document Policies (DM) 
DM1 – General Requirements for all development 

DM2 – Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design 

DM3 – Historic Environment 

DM4 – Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping 

DM5 – Rights of Way and other routes providing pedestrian, cycle and equestrian access 

DM9 – Parking Provision, New and Loss of Car Parks 

DM16 – Conversion of Buildings in Rural Areas 

5.0 Assessment 

Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy 
5.1. The proposal involves the change of use of Cark Manor from dwelling (Use Class 

C3) to a dwelling (Use Class C3) and holiday let (Sui Generis). There will be no 
subdivision of Cark Manor, the entire property will be let to groups of up to 20 
individuals as a holiday let when it is not being used as a dwelling by the applicant. 

5.2. Due to the nature of holiday lets, they can be classified within Use Class C3 
(dwellinghouse). However, in some cases the nature of the use can be materially 
different to that of a dwelling. Whether this material difference has occurred is a 
matter of fact and degree. The below case law provides further background and 
clarification. 

5.3. In a Divisional Court decision, Blackpool Borough Council v SSE [1980], a 
dwellinghouse was being used as a second home by the owner, as holiday 
accommodation by members of their office staff and as a private holiday rental. The 
decision concluded that the use as a holiday let would not constitute a material 
change of use from a dwellinghouse as it was used by the owner and his family, by 
members of his office staff, and by family groups. 

Page 93



 

16 

5.4. A High Court decision, Gravesham Borough Council v SSE [1984], involved a 
building permitted for a weekend and holiday chalet. The applicant extended the 
building using permitted development rights for a dwellinghouse to which the 
council took enforcement action. The court decision concluded that the approved 
holiday chalet was classified as a dwellinghouse and would therefore benefit from 
the permitted development rights afforded to this use class. Within the judgement it 
concludes that the distinctive characteristic on which to define a dwelling is “its 
ability to afford to those who use it the facilities required for day-to-day private 
domestic existence”. 

5.5. In a Court of Appeal decision Moore v SSE [1998] a group of outbuildings were 
converted to 10 self-contained holiday units without planning permission with 9 of 
them in use by 1991. The LPA issued an enforcement notice in 1995 over four 
years later. The inspector concluded that the units “certainly have the physical 
attributes of self-contained dwellings now. However, they are not used in the normal 
sense as independent residential units. Their use for holiday accommodation is, in 
my opinion, materially different to a use of premises by a household”. This was 
upheld by the High Court, however it was overturned by the Court of Appeal who 
accepted the approach taken in Gravesham Borough Council v SSE [1984] and the 
tests set out to define a dwellinghouse. 

5.6. The above judgements confirm that in some cases, holiday accommodation does 
not have a separate use class to a dwellinghouse (C3). 

5.7. Within Court of Appeal decision Moore v SSCLG [2012] in which a single dwelling 
was being used as a holiday let for up to 20 people, the court concurred with the 
Inspector’s assessment that this represented a material change of use. When 
justifying their decision, the Inspector highlighted the pattern of arrivals and 
departures, with associated traffic movements; the unlikelihood of occupation by 
family or household groups; the numbers of people constituting the visiting groups 
on many occasions; the likely frequency of party type activities, and the potential 
lack of consideration for neighbours. The use was considered materially different to 
that of a dwelling, giving it a use class of its own (Sui Generis). 

5.8. The proposed holiday let element will involve up to 20 guests at any one time and 
therefore parallels can be drawn with the above judgement Moore v SSCLG [2012]. 
The proposal is considered to result in a material change of use from a 
dwellinghouse and considered to have a use class of its own (Sui Generis). 

5.9. The proposed development is located adjacent to, but outside of the Development 
Boundary of Cark-in-Cartmel and therefore considered to be within the open 
countryside in accordance with Policy CS1.2 of the Core Strategy. 

5.10. Policy DM16 of the Development management Policies DPD relates to the 
conversion and re-use of buildings in the open countryside for housing, 
employment, tourism, recreation and community uses, supporting applications 
where: 

Page 94



 

17 

• the building is of traditional materials and construction, of a traditional design 
and constructed in a permanent and substantial manner; and 

• the building is capable of conversion without the need for extension, 
significant alteration or reconstruction; and 

• for residential use the building is redundant or disused, adjacent to or in 
close proximity to an existing habitable dwelling, and the number of dwellings 
proposed is appropriate to the surroundings; and 

• safe road access is in place or can be created without damaging the rural 
character of the surrounding area; and 

• the proposal does not create additional demands for new agricultural 
buildings; and 

• the building can be serviced by utilities which are, or can be made, readily 
available; and 

• the design: 

a. does not result in significantly different external eaves and ridge 
heights; and 

b. for residential use, restricts domestic curtilage provision to a level 
consistent with adjoining buildings and landscape or settlement 
character; and 

c. uses original or matching stone or other material in any rebuilding of 
external walls. 

5.11. The proposal uses a traditional building which does not require extension or 
physical alteration to accommodate the proposed use. The access arrangements 
have been reviewed by the County Council as Highways Authority and deemed 
acceptable (highways impacts will be fully addressed later in the report). The 
proposal is additionally connected to utilities. The proposal is considered compliant 
with Policy DM16 of the Development Management Policies DPD and therefore the 
principle of the proposed change of use is considered acceptable.  

5.12. The proposed development would additionally involve the construction of a parking 
area of approximately 16 spaces. 

5.13. Policy DM9 of the Development Management DPD relates specifically to parking 
stating that all developments should have acceptable levels of car, motorcycle and 
bicycle parking having regard to relevant appropriate guidance. Levels of parking 
provision for any development will be considered on a case by case basis in 
consultation with the Highways Authority using the relevant guidance which will be 
applied flexibly taking into account the following factors: 

1. type, mix and use of development; 

Page 95



 

18 

2. location; 

3. accessibility of development; 

4. availability of and opportunities for public transport; 

5. local car ownership levels; 

6. dominant effect of the car on the appearance and function of a 
development including visual impact; 

7. availability and number of parking permits within the locality; 

8. availability of public car parking space in the vicinity; 

9. encouraging the use of alternative means of travel; 

10. impact on the road network; 

11. extent of on-street parking in the vicinity; and 

12. encouragement of the use of low emission vehicles. 

5.14. The proposed parking area of approximately 16 spaces will serve the proposed 
holiday let use of up to 20 guests. The proposed parking provision was discussed 
with the County Council as Highways Authority and considered appropriate. 
Although low emission vehicles are encouraged through the use of electric vehicle 
charging points, due to the site’s location within the setting of a listed building and 
its potential impact on the setting or fabric of the listed building, such infrastructure 
was not considered appropriate in this instance. The proposed development is 
considered to comply with Policy DM9 of the Development management Policies 
DPD. 

5.15. Based on the above the principle of the proposed development is considered 
acceptable. 

Impact on the Local Economy 
5.16. Policy CS1.1 of the Core Strategy emphasizes the need to grow the local economy 

in a sustainable way, supporting the vitality and viability of service centres. This is 
supported by Para 80 of the NPPF which states that significant weight should be 
placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity. 

5.17. The proposed development would result in new tourism accommodation adjoining 
the edge of Cark Development Boundary, classified as a Local Service Centre. It is 
considered likely that the occupiers of such a development would utilise the local 
services within Cark or neighbouring Flookburgh which are within walking distance 
of the proposed site. Although difficult to accurately quantify, the proposal is 
considered to contribute to the local economy and should therefore benefit from the 
weight afforded to it through Para 80 of the NPPF. 

Page 96



 

19 

Heritage Impact  
5.18. Policy CS8.6 of the Core Strategy requires safeguarding and, where possible, 

enhancing of historic environment assets. This is supported by Policy DM3 of the 
Development Management DPD which states that proposals will be expected to 
conserve, enhance and where appropriate better reveal the significance of listed 
buildings and their settings. 

5.19. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
states that in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the 
case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. 

5.20. Para 193 of the NPPF states that “when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation”. Para 194 goes on to say that “any 
harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset, should require 
clear and convincing justification”. 

5.21. Para 196 of the NPPF states that “where a development proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal”. 

5.22. The proposed development is within the curtilage of Cark Manor. The proposed car 
park and access track is approximately 60 metres east of the Grade II listed Cark 
Manor and 40 metres to the south-east of the Grade II listed Cark Manor Cottage. 
The proposed development is well screened from either of these listed building by 
existing mature trees. 

5.23. The proposed car park is constructed of rubber grass matting, allowing grass to 
permeate through it, significantly reducing its visual impact. The proposed access 
track will be constructed of the same rubber grass matting material. 

5.24. The proposal will introduce a beech hedge along the western boundary of the 
proposed car park and proposed access track. A leylandii hedge adjacent to the 
foot of the slope from the parking area is also proposed. Once this proposed 
planting is established, it will screen the proposed parking area and access from 
views within the grounds of Cark Manor to the west. 

5.25. Due to the rubber grass matting limiting the proposa’ls visual prominence, existing 
mature trees screening the proposed parking area from Cark Manor and Cark 
Manor Cottage and the proposed hedges planted screening it from the grounds of 
Cark Manor, the proposals impact on the setting of Cark manor is considered 
limited. 

Page 97



 

20 

5.26. The Conservation Officer is currently unable to support the application due to the 
perceived impact of the formality of the proposed hedges within the grounds, stating 
that “I would not object to the hedge itself, providing it was supplemented by more 
informal areas of substantial shrubbery”. However, the proposed hedge extensions 
are intended to provide additional screening of the car parking area and are 
considered to be important. A prior to first use condition has been attached with 
regards to a full planting scheme, part of the reason for this condition is to obtain 
additional planting to soften the proposal and further reduce its impact on the 
setting of the heritage asset. 

5.27. The limited impact of the proposed development on the setting of the heritage asset 
must be weighed against the benefits of the proposal, specifically the benefits to the 
local economy as detailed above and the significant weight afforded to this by Para 
80 of the NPPF. Although it is difficult to quantify the benefits of the proposal to the 
local economy, due to the harm to the setting of the heritage asset considered 
limited and will be further reduced the additional landscaping details, the economic 
benefits of the proposal are considered to outweigh this harm. 

Highways Impacts  
5.28. Policy CS10.2 requires new development to be capable of being served by safe 

access to the highway network and that the nature and volume of traffic generated 
by the proposal could be accommodated by the existing road network. This is 
supported by policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies DPD which 
states that new development should ensure adequate and safe movement of 
pedestrians, cyclists and motor vehicles. 

5.29. Para 109 of the NPPF states that “development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe”. 

5.30. The proposed development is located outside of, but adjoining the Cark 
Development Boundary, a Local Service Centre. The proposal is within walking 
distance of the local services of Cark and neighbouring Flookburgh in addition to 
Cark Railway Station. The location of the proposal is considered sustainable. 

5.31. The proposed development is considered to result in an intensification of vehicle 
movements to the site. Due to the nature of the proposal these additional vehicles 
will likely be smaller domestic vehicles. 

5.32. The proposal will result in a parking area adjoining the southern boundary of the 
existing access track onto Station Road to the west. An access track will then 
connect the car park to an existing access on to Sunny Bank to the south. A one 
way system will then be created (prior to first use condition attached to ensure this) 
with the entrance to Cark Manor being the existing access onto Station Road and 
the exit being the existing access onto Sunny Bank. 

Page 98



 

21 

5.33. The existing visibility onto Station road is poor and the reason for the one way 
system proposed. The access onto Sunny Bank is on the outside of a sharp bend 
providing good visibility in both directions (as confirmed by the Highways Officer). 
Due to the sharp bend in the road the average speeds of vehicles is likely to be 
lower (as confirmed by the Highways officer) in addition to vehicle movements 
along Sunny Bank being lower in volume. 

5.34. Although the proposal would result in a slight intensification of vehicle movements 
to the proposed site, the proposed one way system would prevent vehicles exiting 
the site form the existing access onto Station Road with poor visibility. Instead 
vehicles would now exit the site onto Sunny Bank which is considered to have 
better visibility, lower average vehicle speeds and lower volumes of traffic. The 
County Council as the Highways Authority have reviewed the application and are 
satisfied with the arrangement. The proposal is considered to be acceptable from a 
highways perspective, subject to the conditions recommended in the schedule at 
the end of this report.. 

Amenity  
5.35. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies DPD states that new 

development should ensure the delivery of acceptable levels of amenity for existing, 
neighbouring and future users. This is supported by Para 127 of the NPPF which 
states that new development should provide high standard of amenity for existing 
and future users.  

5.36. Within Moore v SSCLG [2012], factors such as the likely frequency of party type 
activities and the potential lack of consideration for neighbours were considered to 
result from the proposed holiday-let use. 

5.37. It is acknowledged that many of the public responses cited noise from guests and 
vehicles, and loss of privacy form guests utilizing the grounds as concerns. Cark 
Manor is approximately 77 metres from the closest dwelling (4 Dobbie Bank) which 
is considered a sufficient distance to mitigate noise generated by guests within Cark 
Manor itself. Although the proposed parking area is adjacent to the eastern 
curtilage of the dwellings comprising Dobbie Bank, a tall traditional stone wall 
provides screening. Due to the sustainability of the proposed location, within 
walking distance of the services within Cark, it is considered less likely that vehicle 
movements from the proposed car park will be necessary during unsociable hours. 

5.38. The grounds associated with Cark Manor are considered extensive and the 
proposed planting along the car park and access track provide an additional barrier 
between the main grounds and Dobbie Bank to the east. Due to the maximum 
number of guests being 20, the extensive grounds and, planting and large stone 
wall separating these grounds from adjoining dwellings, the proposal is considered 
to have a limited impact on the privacy of neighbouring residents. 

Page 99



 

22 

5.39. Public objections raised concerns regarding a loss of light from the proposed 
planting. A beech hedge is proposed along the western edge of the proposed car 
park approximately 10 metres west of the existing large stone wall separating the 
proposed site from Dobbie Bank. A leylandii hedge is proposed approximately 20 
metres to the west of the existing wall at a significantly lower elevation. A small 
section of leylandii hedging is proposed for the south-east corner of the site 
connecting the large tone wall to the curtilage boundary to the south. Due to the 
distances of the proposed planting from the curtilage boundary of neighbouring 
dwellings, the proposed planting is not considered to have an unacceptable impact 
on natural light (particularly given the size of the existing stone wall). Should there 
be any future issues with the height of the proposed planting such as the small 
section of leylandii in the south-east of the site, this can be dealt with through the 
high hedge complaints process as exhibited through high hedge complaint 
SL/2017/0947 where a high hedge removal notice was issued. 

5.40. The issue of light pollution was raised within the public responses. No additional 
external lighting for the scheme is proposed and therefore the proposal is not 
considered to contribute to additional light pollution. 

5.41. Many of the public objections raised concerns regarding the potential use of Cark 
Manor as a wedding venue. The proposed application is for the mixed use dwelling 
and holiday let, not a wedding venue. 

5.42. On balance, although there will be an intensification of the use of the premises (up 
to 20 guests), the distance of the proposal from other dwellings, extensive grounds 
within which the proposed site is set and absence of additional external lighting, the 
proposed development is considered to have a limited impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring residents and acceptable from an amenity perspective. A condition 
has been proposed to limit the occupation of Cark Manor to no more than 20 
individuals at any one time. 

Bio Diversity  
5.43. Policy DM4 is focused on ensuring that all new development proposals will, unless 

it can be demonstrated that it is not possible, result in environmental net gains for 
biodiversity, green and blue infrastructure and demonstrate how the use of 
multifunctional green and blue infrastructure will deliver wider requirements and 
objectives. The design of proposals should mitigate the negative impacts of the 
development by incorporating beneficial biodiversity and geodiversity conservation 
features, including features that will help wildlife to adapt to climate change where 
appropriate. 

5.44. The supporting text to Policy DM4 states it is recognised the nature and scale of net 
gains that can be achieved from proposals will vary depending on the size, location 
and type of development under consideration. In this respect, policy requirements 

Page 100



 

23 

relating to net gain will be applied to all new developments as relevant to the 
proposal under consideration. 

5.45. When referring specifically to trees, Policy DM4 requires new development to 
positively incorporate new, and protect and enhance existing trees. Within the 
policy ‘trees’ should be read to include hedgerows. 

5.46. The proposed development introduces large sections of beech hedgerows in 
addition to sections of leylandii hedgerows. A condition has been attached for the 
submission of an additional planting scheme and scheme of biodiversity net gain 
prior to first use of the proposed holiday. These conditions are considered sufficient 
to secure biodiversity net gains and adequate replacement trees for the proposal. 

5.47. A tree survey and aboricultural impact assessment (detailing tree protection 
methods for the construction phase) were submitted with the application. The 
Council’s Tree Officer was consulted on the application and was satisfied with the 
submitted information. 

Planning Balance and Conclusions  
5.48. The proposed development is located outside of, but adjoining the Cark 

Development Boundary and therefore in accordance with Policy CS1.2 of the Core 
Strategy the site is considered to be located within the open countryside. The 
proposed development is considered to comply with Policy DM16 of the 
Development Management DPD which relates to the re-use of buildings for 
housing, employment, tourism, recreation and community uses. Therefore the 
principle of the proposed development is considered acceptable. 

5.49. The proposal would allow Cark manor to be used as a holiday let for up to 20 
individuals. The proposed site is considered to be located within a highly 
sustainable location with the services of Cark and neighbouring Flookburgh (both 
local service centres) within walking distance including Cark Railway Station. The 
proposal is considered to contribute to the local economy with guests likely to use 
the local services within Cark and Flookburgh, and should therefore benefit from the 
weight afforded by Para 80 of the NPPF. 

5.50. The proposal would involve the construction of a parking area and access track 
within the south-eastern section of the grounds of cark manor. The proposed 
parking area and access track utilise a rubber grass matting which is considered to 
greatly reduce their visual impact in addition to large sections of beach hedging and 
some leylandii hedging to screen these from the extensive remaining grounds. A 
condition requiring the submission of an additional landscaping scheme has been 
recommended to further mitigate any impact of the proposal on the setting of the 
Grade II listed Cark Manor (this condition was recommended by the Conservation 
officer). 

Page 101



 

24 

5.51. The visibility at the existing entrance to Cark Manor onto Station Road is poor. The 
proposal would result in the introduction of a one way system, entering the site from 
Station Road and leaving the site from the existing access onto Sunny Bank to the 
south with better visibility. Although the proposal would result in an intensification of 
vehicle movements to the proposed site, this is considered to be offset by the 
improvements made to the existing access arrangements. The Highway Authority 
does not object to the proposals. 

5.52. It is acknowledged that such holiday let developments for larger groups have the 
potential to impact the amenity of neighbouring residents (see Moore v SSCLG 
[2012]). Additional concerns were raised over the proposed parking areas proximity 
to the residential development Dobbie Bank. Cark Manor is approximately 77 
metres from the closest dwelling and screened by mature trees. This distance and 
screening is considered to mitigate any additional noise generated by guests within 
the manor. Although the parking area is adjacent to the boundary with Dobbie 
Bank, there is an existing large stone wall along the curtilage providing screening, 
no lighting is proposed within the car park and the sustainability of the proposed 
location with services within walking distance requiring fewer vehicle movements. 
All of these factors are considered to mitigate any potential amenity impact on 
neighbouring residents to an acceptable level. 

5.53. The benefits of the sustainability of the proposal’s location, contribution to the local 
economy and improved access arrangements must be weighed against its impact 
on the setting of the listed building and amenity of neighbouring residents. On 
balance, the proposal is considered to be acceptable. 

6.0 Recommendation  
Planning permission SL/2020/0497 be granted subject to the following conditions:  

Condition (1)  The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three 
years from the date of this decision. 

Reason:         To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Condition (2)  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: 

• Site Location Plan, date received 25/06/2020 

• Proposed Site Plan AMENDED (1829 PL01 rev F (003)), date received 
03/12/2020 

Reason:         For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 

Page 102



 

25 

Condition (3)  Prior to first use of the holiday let use, visibility splays providing clear 
visibility of 25 metres to the east of the southern access measured 2.4 metres down 
the centre of the access road to the nearside channel line of the carriageway edge 
has been provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway. 
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to 
permitted development, no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, 
parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be 
permitted to grow within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays. 

Reason:         In the interests of highway safety. 

Condition (4)  Prior to the first use of the holiday let use, full details of the proposed 
one way system to access and exit the site shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented 
prior to the first use of the holiday let use and be maintained operational thereafter. 

Reason:         In the interests of highway safety. 

Condition (5)  Details of measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent 
surface water discharging onto or off the highway from the access toad which slopes 
down towards the highway shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval prior to its construction. The surfacing of the access road on a bound 
material shall extend for at least 5 metres inside the site, as measured from the 
highway boundary. Any approved works shall be implemented prior to the 
development being completed and shall be maintained operational thereafter.  

Reason:         In the interests of highway safety. 

Condition (6)  Prior to the first use of the holiday let use, full details of both hard and 
soft landscape works and boundary treatments (including tree planting, hedgerows 
and earth works) will be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

The agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed timetable.  Any 
trees / shrubs which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within 
five years of their planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with trees / 
shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted. 

Reason:        These details are required to safeguard and enhance the character of 
the area and secure high quality landscaping in accordance with Policies DM1, DM2 
and DM4 of the of the Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document. The details are additionally required to safeguard the setting of a heritage 
asset. 

Condition (7)  Prior to the first use of the holiday let use, a scheme of biodiversity net 
gain shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 103



 

26 

The agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed timetable and 
remain in perpetuity. 

Reason:        These details are required to secure a biodiversity net gain for the 
proposal in accordance with Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

Condition (8)  The building known as ‘Cark Manor’ shall not be occupied by more 
than 20 individuals at any one time. 

Reason:        To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residents and in the interests 
of highway safety in accordance with Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD, Policy CS10.2 of the Core Strategy and Paras 109 and 127 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

Condition (9)  A bound register of all occupants of the holiday let use shall be 
maintained at all times and shall be made available for inspection by the Local 
Planning Authority on request.  The register shall comprise consecutively numbered 
pages, which shall be kept in order, and each entry shall contain the name and 
address of the principal occupier together with the dates of occupation and number 
of occupants. 

Reason:        To comply with the Council’s development strategy set out within Policy 
CS1.2 of the Core Strategy. 

Condition (10)   

a) No external lighting shall be installed unless and until a scheme for the 
provision of external lighting has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include full details of the 
location, design, luminance levels, light spillage and hours of use of all 
external lighting within the site. 

b) The approved lighting scheme shall be implemented in full prior to first 
occupation of the development hereby approved. 

Reason:        These details are required to be approved before the commencement 
of development to safeguard and enhance the character of the area and to minimise 
light pollution in accordance with Policy DM2 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 

  

Page 104



 

27 

 

  

 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Planning Application No. SL/2019/1032 - Holme House Farm, Skelsmergh, Kendal
	7 Planning Application No. SL/2020/0364 - Cark Manor, Cark-in-Cartmel, Grange-over-Sands

